

International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis • A-2361 Laxenburg • Austria Tel: +43 2236 807 • Fax: +43 2236 71313 • E-mail: info@iiasa.ac.at • Web: www.iiasa.ac.at

INTERIM REPORT IR-97-090/December

Simultaneous Optimization of Abatement Strategies for Ground-Level Ozone and Acidification

Chris Heyes (<u>heyes@iiasa.ac.at</u>), Wolfgang Schöpp, Markus Amann, Imrich Bertok, Janusz Cofala, Frantisek Gyarfas, Zbigniew Klimont, Marek Makowski, Sergey Shibayev

Approved by Markus Amann (amann@iiasa.ac.at) Leader, Transboundary Air Pollution Project

Interim Reports on work of the International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis receive only limited review. Views or opinions expressed herein do not necessarily represent those of the Institute, its National Member Organizations, or other organizations supporting the work.

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Methodology	3
	2.1 The General Approach for an Integrated Assessment	3
	2.2 Scenarios of Emission Generating Anthropogenic Activities	4
	2.3 Emission Estimates	5
	2.4 Emission Control Options and Costs	5
	2.5 Atmospheric Transport	6
	2.6 Critical loads for Acidification and Eutrophication	8
	2.7 Optimization	8
3	Emissions	10
	3.1 The Current Reduction Plans (CRP) Scenario for 2010	10
	3.2 Full Implementation of Current Control Technologies	10
4	Ground-level Ozone: Human Health	13
	4.1 The AOT60 as a Surrogate for a Health-Related Threshold	14
	4.2 AOT60: The Situation in 1990 and the Scope for Improvement	14
	4.3 Optimized Scenarios for the AOT60	19
5	Ground-level Ozone: Vegetation Effects	37
	5.1 The Situation in 1990 and the Scope for Improvement	37
	5.2 An Optimized Scenario for the AOT40	42
6	Considering AOT40 and AOT60 Simultaneously	51
7	Acidification	57
	7.1 A 50% Gap Closure Scenario for Acidification (Scenario D9)	57
	7.2 Joint Optimization for Acidification, AOT40 and AOT60 (Scenario D10)	59
	7.3 Comparison of the Exposure Indices	69
8	Summary of the Scenarios and Conclusions	74
	8.1 Summary of the Scenarios	74
	8.2 Caveats	76
	8.3 Conclusions	76
9	References	78

Abstract

An updated Protocol on emissions of nitrogen oxides, under the UN/ECE Convention on Long-range Transboundary Air Pollution, is now at a preparatory stage. An effectbased approach is to be applied to the environmental problems to which nitrogen oxides contribute, either singly or in combination with other pollutants. One such multi-pollutant problem is ground-level ozone. In order to assist the negotiations on the forthcoming NO_x Protocol, IIASA has developed an integrated assessment tool that can be used to support the development of cost-effective European emission control strategies targeted at ground-level ozone.

This report presents a number of scenarios to illustrate the main features of ozonerelated emission control strategies. One crucial element is the selection of appropriate environmental targets. Some alternative approaches are described to illustrate the problems involved and the implications of particular solutions. The target-setting process is, however, a genuinely political task, requiring judgments about political priorities.

The AOT60 measure has been used here as a health-related indicator of ozone exposure. Special attention is devoted to the considerable inter-annual variability in ozone due to differences in meteorological conditions. A possible approach for dealing with the problems caused by this variability is presented.

An illustrative control strategy for the reduction of vegetation damage by ozone is described, using the AOT40 exposure measure. For some areas of high NO_x emission density in NW Europe, the currently planned emission reductions would lead to an increase in the AOT40, owing to the non-linear character of ozone formation. However, it is possible to reduce ozone-related vegetation damage throughout Europe by reducing NO_x emissions beyond the current plans.

Recent progress has been made in considering different environmental targets together. This is illustrated by an optimization scenario which deals simultaneously with health- and vegetation-related ozone strategies. Such an approach offers a certain potential for cost savings.

Finally, the report illustrates the interaction of ozone control strategies with acidification, using an optimized emission control scenario aimed at the simultaneous achievement of environmental targets for AOT60, AOT40 and acidification.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to express their gratitude to

- the Swiss Federal Office for Environment, Forests and Landscape, Bern, for providing financial support for this work,
- Arne Drud from ARKI Consulting and Development, Denmark, for making the CONOPT library for the non-linear optimization available,
- Jean-Paul Hettelingh, Max Posch and colleagues at the Coordination Centre for Effects (CCE) at the National Institute for Public Health and the Environment (RIVM) in Bilthoven, Netherlands, for providing the data bases on ecosystems and population,
- Prof. Anton Eliassen from the Norwegian Meteorological Institute, Oslo, and Peringe Grennfelt from the Swedish Institute for Environmental Research, Gothenburg, for offering thoughtful comments on the modelling approach,
- David Simpson from the Norwegian Meteorological Institute, Oslo, for making the EMEP ozone model available and calculating the very large number of scenarios required as input to the regression analysis,
- Steffen Unger and Prof. Achim Sydow (GMD-FIRST, Berlin, Germany) for transferring the EMEP ozone model to parallel computers.

Simultaneous Optimization of Abatement Strategies for Ground-Level Ozone and Acidification

Chris Heyes, Wolfgang Schöpp, Markus Amann, Imrich Bertok, Janusz Cofala, Frantisek Gyarfas, Zbigniew Klimont, Marek Makowski, Sergey Shibayev

1 Introduction

There is substantial concern about the environmental impacts of air pollution on the local, regional and global scale. It has been shown that observed levels of various air pollutants can threaten human health, vegetation, wild life, and cause damage to materials. In order to limit the negative effects of air pollution, measures to reduce emissions from a variety of sources have been initiated.

Once emitted, many air pollutants remain in the atmosphere for some time before they are finally deposited on the ground. During this time, they are transported with the air mass over long distances, often crossing national boundaries. As a consequence, at a given site the concentration of pollutants and their deposition on the ground is influenced by a large number of emission sources, frequently in many different countries. Thus, action to efficiently abate air pollution problems has to be coordinated internationally.

Over the last decade several international agreements have been reached in Europe to reduce emissions in a harmonized way. Protocols under the Convention on Long-range Transboundary Air Pollution focus on reducing emissions of sulfur dioxide (SO_2) , nitrogen oxides (NO_x) and volatile organic compounds (VOC). Several directives of the European Union prescribe emission standards for large combustion plants, for mobile sources, and limit the sulfur content in liquid fuels.

Most of the current agreements determine required abatement measures solely in relation to technical and economic characteristics of the sources of emissions, such as available abatement technologies, costs, historic emission levels, etc. No relation is established to the actual environmental impacts of emissions. For achieving overall cost-effectiveness of strategies, however, the justification of potential measures in relation to their environmental benefits must also be taken into account. Recently, progress has been made in quantifying the environmental sensitivities of various ecosystems. Critical loads and critical levels have been established reflecting the maximum exposure of ecosystems to one or several pollutants not leading to environmental damage in the long run. Such threshold values have been determined

on a European scale, focusing on acidification and eutrophication as well as on vegetation damage from tropospheric ozone.

It is generally expected that the current policies on emission reductions will greatly reduce the environmental threat posed by acidification and other air pollution problems. However, the measures will not be sufficient to eliminate the problem everywhere in Europe. To meet critical loads for acidification everywhere, further measures will be necessary. Furthermore, analysis also shows that critical levels for tropospheric ozone aiming at the protection of health and vegetation are currently widely exceeded in Europe, and that current policies in Europe will not be sufficient to eliminate the problem entirely. Since most of the low-cost options for abating emissions are already adopted in the current strategies, further action aiming at the sustainability of Europe's ecosystems will have to embark on more costly measures. Cost-effectiveness will be an important argument for gaining acceptance of proposed policies.

This report explores possibilities for cost-effective emission reductions in Europe, with the main emphasis on ground-level ozone. The cost-effectiveness of alternative strategies is presented, together with the anticipated environmental improvement brought about by the measures.

Section 2 of the report provides a brief summary of the basic methodology applied for the analysis and introduces the new approach for the integrated assessment of ozone-related emission control strategies. Section 3 reviews the possible range of emission development between 1990 and 2010. The possible development is determined on the one side by the emission control policies already adopted by the European countries and on the other side by the limits of the available emission control technologies.

The following three sections focus on emission control strategies targeted at groundlevel ozone. Keeping the possible range of emissions in mind, Section 4 assesses strategies for improving health-related criteria of ozone exposure, using the excess ozone over a threshold of 60 ppb accumulated over a time period of six months (AOT60) as a practical indicator. Special attention is devoted to the inter-annual meteorological variability of ozone formation. Section 5 addresses the improvement of a vegetation-related ozone criterion. The calculations use the 'AOT40', integrating the hourly daylight ozone in excess of a 40 ppb threshold over a three-month period. Section 6 combines the health- and vegetation-related targets and explores emission control strategies satisfying both environmental targets simultaneously.

The involvement of some of the ozone precursor emissions in other environmental problems makes it necessary to consider these problems simultaneously when developing optimal emission reduction strategies. Section 7 examines the interaction of ozone controls with acidification, paying particular attention to the role of nitrogen oxides emissions. In particular, an optimized emission control scenario is developed aiming at the simultaneous achievement of environmental targets for acidification, AOT40 and AOT60. Section 8 summarizes the main points of the report, reviews the major limitations which prohibit a final interpretation of the results, and draws preliminary conclusions.

2 Methodology

The recent progress in quantifying the sensitivities of ecosystems adds an important feature to the analysis and the development of cost-effective strategies to achieve and maintain emission levels that do not endanger the sustainability of ecosystems. Integrated assessment models are tools to combine information and databases on the economic, physical and environmental aspects relevant to strategy development.

2.1 The General Approach for an Integrated Assessment

The Regional Air Pollution INformation and Simulation (RAINS)-model developed at the International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis (IIASA, Laxenburg, Austria) provides a consistent framework for the analysis of emission reduction strategies, focusing on acidification, eutrophication and tropospheric ozone. RAINS comprises modules for emission generation (with databases on current and future economic activities, energy consumption levels, fuel characteristics, etc.), for emission control options and costs, for atmospheric dispersion of pollutants and for environmental sensitivities (i.e., databases on critical loads). In order to create a consistent and comprehensive picture of the options for simultaneously addressing the three environmental problems (acidification, eutrophication and tropospheric ozone), the model considers emissions of sulfur dioxide (SO₂), nitrogen oxides (NO_x), ammonia (NH₃) and volatile organic compounds (VOC). A detailed description of the RAINS model can be found in Alcamo *et al.*, 1990. A schematic diagram of the RAINS model is displayed in Figure 2.1.

The European implementation of the RAINS model incorporates databases on energy consumption for 38 regions in Europe, distinguishing 22 categories of fuel use in six economic sectors. The time horizon extends from the year 1990 up to the year 2010 (Bertok et al., 1993). Emissions of SO₂, NO_x, NH₃ and VOC for 1990 are estimated based on information collected by the CORINAIR inventory of the European Environmental Agency (EEA, 1996) and on national information. Options and costs for controlling emissions of the various substances are represented in the model by considering the characteristic technical and economic features of the most important emission reduction options and technologies. Atmospheric dispersion processes over Europe for sulfur and nitrogen compounds are modeled based on results of the European EMEP model developed at the Norwegian Meteorological Institute (Barret and Sandnes, 1996). For tropospheric ozone, source-receptor relationships between the precursor emissions and the regional ozone concentrations are derived from the EMEP photo-oxidants model (Simpson, 1992, 1993). The RAINS model incorporates databases on critical loads and critical levels compiled at the Coordination Center for Effects (CCE) at the National Institute for Public Health and Environmental Protection (RIVM) in the Netherlands (Posch et al., 1997).



The **RAINS** Model of Acidification and Tropospheric Ozone

Figure 2.1: Schematic flowchart of the RAINS model framework

The RAINS model can be operated in the 'scenario analysis' mode, i.e., following the pathways of the emissions from their sources to their environmental impacts. In this case the model provides estimates of regional costs and environmental benefits of alternative emission control strategies. Alternatively, a (linear programming) 'optimization mode' is available for the acidification part to identify cost-optimal allocations of emission reductions in order to achieve specified deposition targets. This mode of the RAINS model was used extensively during the negotiation process of the Second Sulfur Protocol under the Convention on Long-range Transboundary Air Pollution for elaborating effect-based emission control strategies. A non-linear optimization module for tropospheric ozone has been developed recently and was used for this study.

2.2 Scenarios of Emission Generating Anthropogenic Activities

Inputs to the RAINS model include projections of future energy consumption on a national scale up to the year 2010. The model stores this information as energy balances for selected future years, distinguishing fuel production, conversion and consumption for 22 fuel types in six economic sectors. These energy balances are complemented by additional information relevant for emission projections, such as boiler types (e.g., dry bottom vs. wet bottom boilers, size distribution of plants, age structures, fleet composition of the vehicle stock, etc.).

Agricultural activities are a major source of ammonia emissions, which in turn make a contribution to the acidification problem. Next to specific measures directed at

limiting the emissions from livestock farming, the development of the animal stock is an important determinant of future emissions. The projections of future agricultural activities currently implemented in the RAINS model have been compiled from a variety of national and international studies on the likely development of the agricultural system in Europe.

The forecast of the future development of VOC emission generating activities is linked to other information on general economic development. About half of the anthropogenic emissions of VOC originates from combustion, extraction and distribution of fossil fuels. Therefore, the information on projected levels of fuel consumption in the countries of the UN/ECE region contained in RAINS is used to estimate future emissions of VOC from relevant sources, i.e. traffic, stationary combustion, extraction and distribution of fuels. The development of the other VOC emitting sectors in the EU is based on information provided in the reports to the European Commission on the development of the EU energy system between 1995-2020 (Capros *et al.*, 1997). The forecasts of GDP values in various industrial sectors, as well as population, were linked to the projected development in the sectors distinguished in the RAINS-VOC module. A similar exercise was performed for non-EU countries.

2.3 Emission Estimates

The RAINS model estimates current and future levels of SO_2 , NO_x , VOC and NH_3 emissions based on information provided by the energy- and economic scenario as exogenous input and on emission factors derived from the CORINAIR emission inventory (EEA, 1996), national reports as well as contacts with national experts. Emission estimates are performed on a disaggregated level, which is determined by the available details of the available energy and agricultural projection and the CORINAIR emission inventory.

2.4 Emission Control Options and Costs

Although there is a large variety of options to control emissions, an integrated assessment model focusing on the pan-European scale has to restrict itself to a manageable number of typical abatement options in order to estimate future emission control potentials and costs. Consequently, the RAINS model identifies for each of its application areas (i.e., emission source categories considered in the model) a limited list of characteristic emission control options and extrapolates the current operating experience to future years, taking into account the most important country- and situation-specific circumstances modifying the applicability and costs of the techniques.

For each of the available emission control options, RAINS estimates the specific costs of reductions, taking into account investment-related and operating costs. Investments are annualized over the technical lifetime of the pollution control equipment, using a discount factor of four percent. Whereas the technical performance as well as investments, maintenance and material consumption are considered to be technologyspecific and thereby, for a given technology, equal for all European countries, fuel characteristics, boiler sizes, capacity utilization, labor and material costs (and stable sizes and applicability rates of abatement options for ammonia) are important country-specific factors influencing the actual costs of emission reduction under given conditions. A detailed description of the methodology adopted to estimate emission control costs can be found in Amann (1990) and Klaassen (1991).

The databases on emission control costs have been constructed based on the actual operating experience of various emission control options documented in a number of national studies (e.g., Schärer, 1993) as well as in reports of international organizations (e.g., OECD, 1993; Takeshita, 1995; Rentz *et al.*, 1987). Country-specific information has been extracted from relevant national and international statistics (UN/ECE, 1996). In autumn 1996, the list of control options and the country-specific data used for the cost calculations were presented to the negotiating parties of the Convention on Long-range Transboundary Air Pollution for review.

Specific details of the emission control options considered in the RAINS model are provided in Amann *et al.* (1997).

2.5 Atmospheric Transport

2.5.1 The Dispersion of Sulfur and Nitrogen Compounds in the Atmosphere

The RAINS model estimates deposition of sulfur and nitrogen compounds due to the emissions in each country, and then sums the contributions from each country with a background contribution to compute total deposition at any grid location. These calculations are based on source-receptor matrices derived from a Lagrangian model of long-range transport of air pollutants in Europe, developed by EMEP.

The EMEP model is a receptor-oriented single-layer air parcel trajectory model, in which air parcels follow two-dimensional trajectories calculated from the wind field at an altitude which represents transport within the atmospheric boundary layer. Budgets of chemical development within the air parcels are described by ordinary first-order differential equations integrated in time along the trajectories as they follow atmospheric motion. During transport, the equations take into account emissions from the underlying grid of a 150 km resolution, chemical processes in the air, and wet and dry deposition to the ground surface. Model calculations are based on six-hourly input data of the actual meteorological conditions for specific years.

In order to capture the inter-annual meteorological variability, model runs have been performed for 11 years (1985-1995, Barret and Sandnes, 1996). For each of these years, budgets of sources (aggregated to entire countries) and sinks (in a regular grid mesh with a size of $150 \times 150 \text{ km}$) of pollutants have been calculated. These annual source-receptor budgets have been averaged over 11 years and re-scaled to provide the spatial distribution of one unit of emissions. The resulting atmospheric transfer matrices are then used as input in the RAINS model.

The use of such 'country-to-grid' transfer matrices implicitly assumes that the spatial relative distribution of emissions within a country will not dramatically change in the future. It has been shown that the error introduced by this simplification is within the range of other model uncertainties, when considering the long-range transport of pollutants (Alcamo, 1987).

2.5.2 Modelling Ozone Formation

The formation of ozone involves chemical reactions between NO_x and VOCs driven by solar radiation and occurs on a regional scale in many parts of the world. An integrated assessment model for ozone needs to relate ozone exposure to changes in the emissions of ozone precursors.

In order to provide RAINS with appropriate source-receptor relationships for ozone, a 'reduced-form' model has been constructed (Heyes *et al.*, 1997), using statistical methods to summarize the response of a more complex 'reference' model to emission changes. This was carried out in collaboration with EMEP's Meteorological Synthesizing Centre - West, and the results of the EMEP ozone model (Simpson, 1993) provide the basis on which the reduced-form model has been built. The EMEP model was selected for this analysis, i.a., because (i) it has repeatedly undergone extensive peer review and its structure and results have been compared with other ozone models, and (ii) the EMEP model is readily available for calculating ozone levels over all of Europe over a time period of six months, and the calculation of the necessarily large number of scenarios is a practical proposition with this model.

The long-term ozone concentration at receptor j, $[O_3]_j$, is assumed to be a function of the non-methane VOC and NO_x emissions, v_i and n_i respectively, from each emitter country i, and the mean "effective" emissions of NO_x, en_j , experienced at the receptor over the period in question. The reduced-form model is formulated as follows:

$$\overline{[O_3]}_j = k_j + \sum_{i=1}^M (a_{ij}v_i + b_{ij}n_i + c_{ij}n_i^2) + \alpha_j \overline{en_j}^2 + \overline{en_j} \sum_{i=1}^M d_{ij}v_i$$

where M is the number of emitter countries considered. The effective NO_x emissions variable allows for exchange processes between the boundary layer and the free troposphere above, and depends both on the relevant emissions and on the meteorology.

The terms of this reduced-form ozone model may be interpreted in relation to the physical and chemical processes that determine ozone formation in the atmosphere:

- k_j includes the effects of background concentrations of O₃ and its precursors, and natural VOC emissions;
- $a_{ij}v_i$ provides the linear country-to-grid contribution from VOC emissions in country *i*, allowing for meteorological effects;
- $b_{ij}n_i$ provides the linear country-to-grid contribution from NO_x emissions in country *i*, allowing for meteorological effects;
- $\alpha_j en_j^2$ takes account of the average non-linearity (in the O₃ / NO_x relationship) experienced along trajectories arriving at receptor *j* and any non-linear effects local to that receptor;
- $c_{ij}n_i^2$ serves essentially as a correction term to allow for non-linearities occurring close to high NO_x emitter countries;
- $d_i e_i v_i$ allows for interactions between NO_x and VOCs along the trajectories.

The coefficients a_{ij} , b_{ij} , c_{ij} , d_{ij} and α_j are estimated by linear regression, and n_i , v_i and en_j are used as variables. The coefficients a_{ij} and b_{ij} may also be regarded as a composite source-receptor matrix.

The formulation given above has been used in the construction of models of the AOT40 and AOT60 ozone exposure measures at some 600 European receptor grids for the summer periods of five different years.

2.6 Critical loads for Acidification and Eutrophication

A critical load for an ecosystem is defined as the deposition "below which significant harmful effects on specified sensitive elements of the environment do not occur according to present knowledge". Over the past years methodologies for computing critical loads have been elaborated for acidification and eutrophication and compiled by the Mapping Programme under the Working Group on Effects which operates under the UN/ECE Convention of Long-range Transboundary Air Pollution (LRTAP) (UBA, 1996). On a national level, critical loads data are compiled and submitted to the Coordination Center for Effects (CCE), located at the Dutch National Institute for Public Health and the Environment (RIVM), which collates and merges these national data into European maps and data bases, which are then approved by the Mapping Programme and the Working Group on Effects, before being used in emission reduction negotiations under the LRTAP Convention.

To be able to compare critical loads with European deposition fields, the numerous critical load values and functions (currently more than half a million; mostly for forest soils, but also lakes and semi-natural vegetation) have to be aggregated in the 150km x 150km EMEP-grid. For single values this is done by computing a percentile of the cumulative distribution function of all critical load values within an EMEP-grid cell.

To consider both sulfur and nitrogen deposition simultaneously, a surrogate for the multitude of critical load functions within an EMEP-grid cell has been defined: the so-called ecosystem protection isoline (for details see Posch *et al.*, 1995). These isolines are a generalization of the percentile concept in the case of single critical load values and can be used in integrated assessment models, such as RAINS, to evaluate emission reduction strategies for both sulfur and nitrogen. Owing to the different behavior of sulfur and nitrogen in the environment, it is not possible to compute a unique exceedance of a critical load. However, the protection isolines derived from the critical load functions allow the computation of the fraction of ecosystems protected in each grid cell, and, therefore, the evaluation of the effectiveness of any given emission scenario.

2.7 Optimization

The optimization mode of integrated assessment models can be a powerful tool in the search for cost-effective solutions to combat an air pollution problem. In the RAINS-acidification model, optimization techniques have been used to identify the cost-minimal allocation of resources in order to reduce the gap between current sulfur deposition and the ultimate targets of full critical loads achievement.

In the case of tropospheric ozone, a systematic search for cost-effectiveness appears even more attractive. The facts that several pollutants (NO_x and VOC emissions) are involved, and that important non-linearities between precursor emissions and ozone levels have been recognized, cut the likelihood of 'intuitive' solutions being identified

in the scenario analysis mode. At the same time, these aspects also increase the complexity of the problem and, therefore, the demand for optimization techniques.

For simple cost-minimization, the objective function of the optimization problem can be formulated as

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N} c_i \rightarrow \min$$

Cost curves providing emission control costs for varying levels of reductions can be converted into constraints for the optimization problem:

$$c_i = f(n_i, v_i)$$

A second set of constraints relates for each grid cell j emissions of NO_x and VOC to ozone exposure:

$$AOT40_j = f'(n_i, v_i, ...) \leq f''(AOT 40_{\lim}, ...)$$

with *i* denoting emission sources (countries), *j* the receptor sites, n_i the emissions of NO_x, v_i the emissions of VOC, c_i the combined costs of reducing NO_x and VOC emissions in country *i*, *AOT40_j* the ozone exposure (AOT40) at a receptor *j* and *AOT40_{im}* the critical level for ozone.

In addition, if required, a third set of (linear) constraints can be specified to limit the deposition of nitrogen and sulfur compounds in order to protect ecosystems from acidification and eutrophication.

The inputs to the optimization package include cost curves providing, for the various pollutants under consideration, the costs of reducing emissions at the different source regions for a selected year. The current implementation of the RAINS model contains modules for estimating emission control costs for SO_2 , NO_x , NH_3 and VOC. These estimates can be expressed in terms of cost curves, providing - for a given emission source (country) - the least costs for achieving increasingly stringent emission reductions. They are compiled by ranking the available abatement options according to their marginal costs. Consequently, this methodology produces piece-wise linear curves, consisting typically of about 30 segments.

A smoothed approximation of the cost curves has been developed for use in the nonlinear optimization problem. Analysis demonstrated that the given piece-wise linear cost curves could be best approximated with a second-order rational function

$$y_i = \frac{a_i + b_i x_i}{1 + c_i x + d_i x_i^2} + e_i$$

with y_i as the total costs and x_i as the emission level. e_i is used to calibrate the nocontrol level at zero costs. a_i , b_i , c_i and d_i are determined through non-linear regression. For NO_x, the maximum deviation from the piece-wise linear curve is typically within a range of ± five percent.

3 Emissions

To establish a reference line against which the emission control scenarios of this report can be compared, the likely impacts of current emission abatement policies and regulations for the year 2010 are explored first. The 'Current Reduction Plans' (CRP) scenario incorporates officially adopted or internationally announced ceilings on national emissions.

3.1 The Current Reduction Plans (CRP) Scenario for 2010

The 'Current Reduction Plans' (CRP) scenario is based on an inventory of officially declared national emission ceilings. Such declarations of envisaged future emissions result from the various protocols of the Convention on Long-range Transboundary Air Pollution and are collected on a routine basis by the Secretariat of the Convention. The analysis in this study uses the recent data published in UN/ECE (1995). In cases where no projections were supplied by a country for the target year 2010, the following rules, which are in accordance with the practice used for modeling work under the Convention, have been applied: (i) If a future projection is available, the latest number has been used for the year 2010; (ii) if the country has signed the NO_x or VOC protocol, the resulting obligation (e.g., standstill or 30 percent cut in emissions relative to a base year) has been extended to the year 2010; (iii) if neither applies, the results from the RAINS estimate of a current legislation scenario has been used.

3.2 Full Implementation of Current Control Technologies

A further scenario, the Maximum Feasible Reductions (MFR) scenario, has been constructed to illustrate the potential of a full application of current control technology and to quantify possible progress towards the full achievement of critical loads.

The MFR scenario simulates the complete implementation of currently available emission control technologies taking into account constraints imposed by current legislation and historically observed turnover rates of the capital stock when determining the application potential of the presently available emission control options. By definition, changes to the structure and the levels of economic activities and energy consumption are excluded.

The analysis presented in this report excludes the possible emission reductions discussed within the Auto/Oil 2 programme. The reasons for this are twofold: (a) there is no consensus yet about the costs for these measures, and (b) many emission control options for mobile sources reduce NO_x and VOC emissions simultaneously. In order to avoid a double-counting of the costs of these measures (which would inevitably occur if independent NO_x and VOC cost curves were used), the costs for these measures must be described by three-dimensional 'cost surfaces' instead of two-dimensional cost-curves, taking into account the simultaneous effects on two pollutants. Although a methodology has been developed to handle this approach in a proper way, practical difficulties made it impossible to complete this approach in time for this report. As a consequence of the exclusion of the Auto/Oil 2 measures and the assumption of the full implementation of current legislation (including the Auto/Oil 1 package), the scenarios carried out in this report consider in practice only the emission reduction potential for stationary sources.

Table 3.1 and Table 3.2 list the resulting emissions for the CRP and MFR scenarios. The measures assumed in MFR scenario enable a reduction of SO_2 emissions in Europe by 90%, of NO_x by 60%, of ammonia by 43% and of VOC by 62% compared to 1990.

Country			SO_2					NH ₃		
	1990	CRP	Change	MFR	Change	1990	CRP	Change	MFR	Change
Albania	72	120	67%	6	-92%	31	34	10%	26	-15%
Austria	93	78	-16%	40	-57%	92	93	1%	54	-41%
Belarus	845	490	-42%	44	-95%	219	163	-26%	105	-52%
Belgium	317	215	-32%	49	-85%	86	96	12%	69	-19%
Bosnia-H	482	480	0%	33	-93%	31	23	-25%	15	-51%
Bulgaria	1842	1127	-39%	107	-94%	141	126	-11%	98	-30%
Croatia	178	117	-34%	18	-90%	40	38	-6%	28	-31%
Czech R.	1872	632	-66%	97	-95%	115	125	9%	78	-32%
Denmark	190	90	-53%	17	-91%	126	103	-18%	47	-63%
Estonia	273	275	1%	25	-91%	29	29	-1%	18	-38%
Finland	237	116	-51%	58	-76%	42	23	-45%	20	-52%
France	1300	737	-43%	221	-83%	692	668	-4%	409	-41%
Germany	5271	740	-86%	333	-94%	741	539	-27%	292	-61%
Greece	509	570	12%	56	-89%	78	76	-2%	53	-32%
Hungary	913	653	-28%	285	-69%	110	150	36%	94	-15%
Ireland	180	155	-14%	31	-83%	124	126	2%	118	-5%
Italy	1699	1042	-39%	173	-90%	384	394	3%	261	-32%
Latvia	122	115	-6%	16	-87%	39	29	-26%	17	-57%
Lithuania	213	145	-32%	24	-89%	79	84	6%	50	-37%
Luxembourg	14	4	-71%	2	-86%	7	6	-12%	6	-12%
Netherlands	197	56	-72%	34	-83%	229	82	-64%	81	-65%
Norway	54	34	-37%	18	-67%	23	25	9%	18	-21%
Poland	3001	1397	-53%	421	-86%	505	546	8%	415	-18%
Portugal	286	294	3%	31	-89%	91	92	1%	62	-32%
R. of Moldova	197	130	-34%	20	-90%	47	48	2%	31	-34%
Romania	1335	1311	-2%	92	-93%	290	301	4%	210	-27%
Russia	5046	4297	-15%	557	-89%	1283	895	-30%	522	-59%
Slovakia	549	240	-56%	65	-88%	61	53	-12%	39	-36%
Slovenia	199	37	-81%	14	-93%	23	27	17%	14	-39%
Spain	2234	2143	-4%	201	-91%	353	345	-2%	225	-36%
Sweden	115	87	-24%	59	-49%	62	53	-14%	37	-40%
Switzerland	45	30	-33%	15	-67%	62	58	-6%	46	-26%
FYRMacedonia	106	106	0%	7	-93%	17	16	-7%	9	-46%
Ukraine	3708	2310	-38%	383	-90%	729	649	-11%	374	-49%
United Kingdom	3754	980	-74%	173	-95%	325	320	-2%	209	-36%
F.Yugoslavia	581	1135	95%	45	-92%	90	83	-8%	54	-40%
	C 4 1	C 4 1	007	1.50	760/	0				
Atlantic Ocean	641	641	0%	152	-/0% 750/	0				
Baltic Sea	73	13	0%	18	-/3%	0				
North Sea	439	439	0%	104	-/0%	0				
Total	39182	23641	-40%	4044	-90%	7394	6516	-12%	4204	-43%

Table 3.1: Emissions of SO_2 and NH_3 for 1990, the CRP scenario and the maximum feasible reductions (MFR) in 2010 (assuming the implementation of Auto/Oil-1)

 VOC^{1} NO Country 1990 CRP Change 1990 CRP MFR Change Change MFR Change 25% 25% 50% -18% Albania 24 30 30 29 44 24 97 -60% -27% -42% Austria 242 155 -36% 420 305 245 -22% -52% -5% -39% Belarus 402 315 193 337 321 204 -15% -70% -31% -73% 363 309 109 339 233 90 Belgium 80 0% 37 -54% 40% 35 -22% Bosnia-H 80 45 63 Bulgaria 354 290 -18% 192 -46% 194 152 -21% 104 -46% 0% -14% -8% -40% 53 Croatia 83 88 80 83 71 -22% -24% -75% -61% Czech R. 522 398 131 281 220 109 -29% -69% -22% -67% Denmark 271 192 84 175 136 57 -14% -44% 21% -23% 47 37 Estonia 84 72 48 58 279 224 -20% -66% -44% -66% Finland 96 193 108 65 -66% -30% -74% France 1619 1276 -21% 555 2395 1681 616 2985 2130 -29% 974 -67% 3106 1750 -44% 772 -75% Germany 39% -43% -62% 544 222 295 205 -31% 392 111 Greece -8% -36% -16% -50% 214 196 138 172 87 Hungary 145 Ireland 107 105 -2% 29 -73% 96 138 45% 10 -90% 3% -63% -26% -69% 746 1852 582 Italy 2009 2060 1376 1% -17% 12% -24% 114 95 68 46 Latvia 115 61 5% -30% -4% Lithuania 151 158 106 88 84 52 -41% -10% -67% -29% -84% Luxembourg 21 19 7 18 13 3 -50% 190 -65% -44% 123 -74% Netherlands 539 270 465 258 -30% -33% -26% -65% 154 92 Norway 231 161 266 196 -59% -49% Poland 1209 1345 11% 494 687 1300 89% 350 3% -42% -27% -52% Portugal 208 215 120 197 144 95 0% -38% -55% 15% 39 70 80 43 R. of Moldova 87 87 599 Romania 513 546 6% 269 -48% 580 3% 277 -52% -24% -48% -9% -49% 3049 1703 Russia 2653 1823 3335 3485 Slovakia 207 197 -5% 82 -60% 144 122 -15% 61 -58% -48% -57% -47% -60% 47 19 Slovenia 60 31 26 25 892 -24% 495 -58% 794 -23% -72% Spain 1176 1036 294 -54% -26% -36% -40% Sweden 345 254 159 448 287 267 -30% -53% -41% -77% 113 293 173 Switzerland 161 75 68 39 39 0% 19 -51% 17 24% 12 -14% **FYRMacedonia** 14 -42% -56% 1065 -37% -39% 1888 1094 822 671 651 Ukraine -72% -72% -55% -53% United Kingdom 2664 1186 740 2690 1276 744 -30% -55% 97 10% -23% F.Yugoslavia 211 147 96 106 74 0% -80% Atlantic Ocean 911 911 181 0 Baltic Sea 0% -80% 80 80 16 0 North Sea 639 0% -80% 639 127 0 -21% -60% -25% -62% 9886 Total 24969 19611 21664 16278 8175

Table 3.2: Emissions of NO_x and VOC for 1990, the CRP scenario and the maximum feasible reductions in the year 2010, assuming measures in the transport sectors limited to those laid down by Auto/Oil 1 (in kilotons)

Note: ¹) Excluding agricultural emissions

4 Ground-level Ozone: Human Health

As mentioned in the Introduction of this report, the main focus of this analysis is on strategies for reducing ground-level ozone in Europe. It is important to realize that 'ozone concentrations' as such are not a useful environmental endpoint for the analysis. Depending on the type of environmental receptor to be protected (human health, natural vegetation, crops, forests, material, etc.), different temporal characteristics of ozone concentrations are relevant:

- For the protection of human health, the WHO has recently reviewed and updated the Air Quality Guidelines for Europe (WHO 1997). This update suggests an eight-hour maximum value of 60 ppb as a level at which acute adverse effects in the population are present. Although chronic exposure to ozone can cause adverse effects, quantitative information from humans is considered inadequate to estimate the degree of protection from chronic effects afforded by this guideline. To assess quantitatively the health impact of ozone and photochemical air pollution, however, population exposure and specific exposure-effects models have to be used to predict the risk for acute, episodic and long-term exposure.
- Recent research findings on ozone-related vegetation damage make it possible to determine biologically meaningful, but simple, indices to characterize ozone exposure and to identify the critical levels of exposure above which - by definition - adverse direct effects on receptors, such as certain plant species, may occur. Based on the scientific work on critical levels carried out under the UN/ECE Convention on Long-range Transboundary Air Pollution Working Group on Effects, a number of guideline values are recommended by WHO (1997). The cumulative exposure index using a threshold of 40 ppb (AOT40) has been accepted as the best available exposure index for damage to crops and natural vegetation (Kärenlampi and Skarby, 1996) using hourly concentrations during daylight hours over a three-month period (growing season). The critical level for agricultural crops (relating to a 5% crop loss) has been set at an AOT40 of three ppm.hours, averaged over a five-year period. For forest trees, the critical level is proposed at an AOT40 of 10 ppm.hours for daylight hours, accumulated over a six-month growing season (averaged over five years). It should be mentioned that work is proceeding to develop a Level-II approach for defining critical levels, taking into account modifying factors such as humidity, etc., but at present this work is not yet sufficiently advanced to derive quantitative conclusions.
- Research on damage to materials concludes that deterioration of materials is a cumulative and irreversible process. Threshold values are based on the concept of acceptable pollution levels and deterioration rates. Although many of the assumptions are still being discussed, the UN/ECE Mapping Manual proposed a preliminary level of ozone of 20 ppb as the annual mean concentration for sensitive organic materials.

This brief summary indicates that different exposure indices are relevant for different receptors. Acute risk to human health is related to higher ozone concentrations (above 60 ppb), although no conclusions are drawn about the importance of the frequency of such occurrences. The critical level for vegetation damage is currently expressed in terms of the cumulative excess exposure over 40 ppb over a several months period, while material damage is considered to be proportional to the long-term mean exposure. The relationships between these exposure indices vary greatly with space, time and the concentrations of precursor emissions over Europe. Consequently,

optimized strategies will depend crucially on the target exposure index (whether giving preference to peak or long-term exposure), and will not necessarily be optimal for the improvement of the other indices.

This section analyzes the features of strategies aiming at health-related exposure criteria, while vegetation-oriented strategies are discussed in Section 5. Subsequently, Section 6 explores the potential for optimized strategies meeting both types of targets simultaneously.

4.1 The AOT60 as a Surrogate for a Health-Related Threshold

The modelling of European abatement strategies for individual days over a multimonth period is a rather ambitious task and is not entirely feasible at the moment. In order to simplify the modelling task, and particularly to find a manageable approach for the reduced-form model implemented in the RAINS optimization, the target of noexceedance of the WHO criterion (60 ppb as the maximum eight-hour mean concentration) was converted into an AOT index, which could be handled in a similar way to the AOT40 for vegetation. As a result, an AOT60 (i.e., the cumulative excess exposure over 60 ppb, for practical reasons over a six-month period) of zero is considered to be equivalent to the full achievement of the WHO criterion. Any violation of this WHO guideline will, consequently, result in an AOT60 larger than zero.

It is important to stress that this AOT60 surrogate indicator has been introduced purely for practical modelling reasons. Given the current knowledge on health effects it is not possible to link any AOT60 value larger than zero with a certain risk to human health. The only possible interpretation is that if the AOT60 is above zero, the WHO criterion is exceeded at least once during the six-month period.

4.2 AOT60: The Situation in 1990 and the Scope for Improvement

This section examines the 1990 European AOT60 levels and the scope for future improvements based on the NO_x and VOC emissions expected as a result of current policies or following the (hypothetical) implementation of all technically feasible emission abatement measures. In practice, because for some countries the CRP emissions given in Table 3.2 exceed the RAINS estimates of the 2010 uncontrolled emissions, where necessary this analysis uses a modified version, designated CRP*, of the CRP emissions. The values used can be found in subsequent, relevant tables of this report.

It is documented elsewhere that actual ozone concentrations are strongly influenced (a) by the concentrations of the precursor emissions and (b) by the actual meteorological conditions. As will be shown in Section 4.3.1, the inter-annual meteorological variability may change actual long-term ozone concentrations by more than a factor of two, for constant emissions. Consequently, it is difficult to draw far-reaching conclusions from short-term ozone observations.

Excluding for a moment the meteorological influence, the following figures attempt to portray the anticipated (from the CRP* scenario) and the possible (from the MFR scenario) changes in AOT60 between 1990 and 2010. This analysis is based on the mean AOT60 values of the five years 1989, 1990, 1992, 1993 and 1994. Obviously, the data displayed in the maps cannot be directly compared with real observations,

since the latter depend on the specific meteorological conditions and emissions for the selected year.

Figure 4.1 illustrates that for the emissions of 1990, the highest (rural) AOT60 of more than 6 ppb.hours occurs in northern France, Belgium and Germany. In many other parts of France, Germany, Netherlands and Italy the AOT60 was modeled in a range of 5-6 ppm.hours. Typical rural values in the UK, Austria, Denmark, Poland, Czech Republic, Slovakia and Hungary were between 2 and 3 ppm.hours, while the highest AOT60 in Spain, Portugal and Greece was between 1 and 2 ppm.hours. Scandinavia did not experience significant excess of the AOT60.



Figure 4.1: Five-year mean AOT60 (in ppm.hours) for the emissions of the year 1990

Although the AOT60 is a convenient index to model, it might be a difficult one to interpret and to link with generally understandable notions. A better measure in this respect is the number of days on which the WHO criterion is exceeded. Figure 4.2 displays the regional distribution of the "excess days". It is interesting to note that there is not a 1:1 relationship between the AOT60 and the number of days across all regions in Europe, indicating that the amount by which the 60 ppb criterion is exceeded varies over Europe. Whereas the highest AOT60 occurs in the northern part of Europe (France/Belgium/Germany), the largest numbers of days exceeding the 60 ppb threshold are found in Italy, where the AOT60 is typically 20 to 30 percent lower than in northern Europe. This phenomenon underlines the observation that ozone exposure shows different temporal characteristics in different parts of Europe, an important factor when designing emission control strategies.

The emission controls assumed in the CRP* scenario (NO_x -32%, VOC -31% compared to 1990) for the year 2010 are expected to have quite considerable impacts on ozone exposure (Figure 4.3). The highest mean AOT60 in Europe would decline to about 5 ppm.hours, i.e., by about 40%. Across Europe the CRP* scenario would achieve an average drop of the AOT60 of a similar magnitude.



Figure 4.2: Five-year mean number of days with ozone above 60 ppb, using 1990 emissions



Figure 4.3: Five-year mean AOT60 (in ppm.hours) for the CRP* scenario in the year 2010



Figure 4.4: Five-year mean AOT60 (in ppm.hours) for the maximum feasible emission reductions (assuming the measures of Auto/Oil 1) in the year 2010

Even further cuts in the AOT60 could be achieved by the maximum feasible emission reductions (Figure 4.4). Excluding the emission control potential offered by Auto/Oil 2, a 60% decline of NO_x emissions accompanied by a 62% decrease of VOC emissions would bring the highest five-year mean AOT60 levels in Europe down to about 1.5 ppm.hours, which is 70-80 percent below the 1990 levels. The average AOT60 in Europe would be more than 80% lower than in 1990.

Table 4.1 presents two different types of population exposure for the AOT60. The cumulative index reflects the total exposure of a population and is expressed in person.ppm.hours. This index is the result of the average exposure per person multiplied by the total population. The indices presented in this report are based on the AOT60 values calculated for each grid, representing the rural ozone concentrations, and the total population per grid in 1990. The 'average' indicator reflects the average exposure of a person in a country, calculated from gridded data. It is important to stress that these indices may not be used to derive estimates of health damage, for which more detailed information is deemed necessary. In the context of this report, these indices provide relative measures to enable a comparison of different scenarios.

As shown in the table, in 1990 the average exposure was highest in France, Luxembourg, Belgium and Germany; the highest cumulative exposure (due to the large populations) occurred in Germany, France, Italy and the UK. The cumulative exposure of the population in Europe is expected to decline by 40% as a result of the current policy. Larger improvements (more than 50%) occur in Austria, Finland, Greece, Italy, Slovenia and Switzerland, while for the UK and F. Yugoslavia a decrease in AOT60 of less than 20% could be expected. The maximum feasible emission reductions would reduce the exposure indices by about 90%.

Table 4.1: Population exposure indices (AOT60) for 1990, the CRP* scenario and the maximum feasible emission reductions (MFR), based on five-year mean AOT60 calculations. The table presents the cumulative population exposure for each country (in million person.ppm.hours) and the average exposure per person in each country (in ppm.hours). Note that the environmental long-term target is proposed at a level of zero.

Country	Cumulati	ve population	n exposure	Average	e population	exposure
		index			index	
	(millio	n person.ppn	n.hours)		(ppm.hours))
	1990	CRP*	MFR	1990	CRP*	MFR
Albania	2	1	0	0.5	0.2	0.0
Austria	17	8	0	2.2	1.1	0.0
Belarus	4	4	0	0.4	0.3	0.0
Belgium	67	44	14	6.2	4.0	1.3
Bosnia-H	3	2	0	0.8	0.4	0.0
Bulgaria	4	3	0	0.4	0.3	0.0
Croatia	9	5	0	1.9	1.1	0.0
Czech R.	35	19	0	3.3	1.8	0.0
Denmark	9	5	0	1.8	1.1	0.0
Estonia	0	0	0	0.3	0.2	0.0
Finland	1	0	0	0.2	0.1	0.0
France	280	156	25	5.0	2.7	0.4
Germany	391	226	52	5.0	2.9	0.7
Greece	7	3	0	0.7	0.3	0.0
Hungary	28	17	0	2.7	1.7	0.0
Ireland	3	2	0	0.7	0.5	0.0
Italy	183	86	2	3.2	1.5	0.0
Latvia	1	1	0	0.5	0.4	0.0
Lithuania	2	2	0	0.6	0.5	0.0
Luxembourg	3	2	1	8.1	4.7	1.3
Netherlands	68	48	17	4.5	3.2	1.1
Norway	1	1	0	0.2	0.1	0.0
Poland	90	58	0	2.3	1.5	0.0
Portugal	16	10	3	1.6	1.0	0.3
R. of Moldova	3	2	0	0.6	0.5	0.0
Romania	18	13	0	0.8	0.6	0.0
Russia	15	11	0	0.1	0.1	0.0
Slovakia	15	9	0	2.8	1.7	0.0
Slovenia	5	2	0	2.3	1.2	0.0
Spain	36	18	0	1.0	0.5	0.0
Sweden	4	2	0	0.5	0.3	0.0
Switzerland	14	6	0	2.1	0.8	0.0
FYRMacedonia	0	0	0	0.1	0.1	0.0
Ukraine	28	19	0	0.6	0.4	0.0
United Kingdom	113	99	18	2.0	1.7	0.3
F.Yugoslavia	6	5	0	0.6	0.4	0.0
Total	1481	889	132	2.2	1.3	0.2

4.3 Optimized Scenarios for the AOT60

The scenarios outlined in the preceding section illustrate the range of possible improvement of ozone exposure evaluated using the AOT60 criterion. It is obvious from the analysis that the currently planned emission reductions (the CRP* scenario) will not be sufficient to fully achieve the proposed environmental long-term target for the protection of human health (i.e., the WHO Air Quality Guidelines). Furthermore, even the maximum technically possible emission reductions (excluding the measures of Auto/Oil 2) would not meet these targets in the given time frame.

The above analysis was based on the five-year mean AOT60 values. In reality, ozone formation is highly dependent on the meteorological conditions, and in some years the situation will be worse than suggested using the mean approach. Unfortunately, this variability adds another dimension to the selection of appropriate environmental targets. While for vegetation the definition of the critical level (threshold) takes into account the meteorological variability, the health-related criteria are by their nature short-term related. Consequently, the choice of appropriate targets must actively address the meteorological variability.

The following section will explore the magnitude of changes in ozone exposure due to different meteorological conditions and thereby provide a basis for the selection of optimization targets in the subsequent section.

4.3.1 Dealing with the Inter-annual Meteorological Variability

Figure 4.5 to Figure 4.9 illustrate the differences in AOT60 for the meteorological conditions of the years 1989, 1990, 1992, 1993 and 1994, using constant anthropogenic emissions of the year 1990. Note that the natural VOC emissions are varied according to the actual climatic conditions of the years.

It is interesting to realize that the AOT60 differed in many respects over the five years:

- the maximum AOT60 varies between 5 ppm.hours for the 1992 and 1993 meteorology and 13 ppm.hours for the 1994 meteorology;
- the area with highest ozone in Europe varies from year to year;
- different regions experience maximum AOT60 in different years.

Table 4.2 lists the population exposure indices for the emissions of the year 1990 derived for the five meteorological conditions. The cumulative population exposure indices for Europe over the five years show a standard deviation of 36% of the mean value.



Figure 4.5: AOT60 (in ppm.hours) for the emissions of the year 1990, using the meteorology of 1989



Figure 4.6: AOT60 (in ppm.hours) for the emissions of the year 1990, using the meteorology of 1990



Figure 4.7: AOT60 (in ppm.hours) for the emissions of the year 1990, using the meteorology of 1992



Figure 4.8 AOT60 (in ppm.hours) for the emissions of the year 1990, using the meteorology of 1993



Figure 4.9: AOT60 (in ppm.hours) for the emissions of the year 1990, using the meteorology of 1994

a .	Cum	nulative	popula	tion exp	posure	Av	erage p	opulati	on expc	osure
Country	,		index		、 、		,	index	Ĺ	
	(n	aillion p	person.p	pm.hoi	urs)	1000	(p	pm.hou	Jrs)	1004
	1989	1990	1992	1993	1994	1989	1990	1992	1993	1994
Albanıa	2	2	1	1	2	0.5	0.7	0.2	0.5	0.6
Austria	23	22	8	12	19	3.0	2.9	1.0	1.6	2.5
Belarus	9	·/	2	2	2	0.9	0.7	0.2	0.2	0.2
Belgium	<i>7</i> 9	83	38	34	103	7.2	7.6	3.5	3.1	9.5
Bosnia-H	3	5	2	3	5	0.7	1.1	0.5	0.6	1.0
Bulgaria	3	6	2	6	4	0.3	0.6	0.2	0.6	0.4
Croatia	8	10	6	9	11	1.7	2.2	1.2	1.9	2.4
Czech R.	44	49	17	23	41	4.2	4.8	1.6	2.2	3.9
Denmark	10	15	6	6	9	1.9	2.9	1.2	1.2	1.8
Estonia	1	0	1	0	0	0.5	0.3	0.5	0.1	0.1
Finland	1	1	1	0	1	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.1
France	434	366	160	128	315	7.7	6.5	2.8	2.3	5.6
Germany	449	507	198	231	568	5.7	6.4	2.5	2.9	7.2
Greece	6	10	6	8	8	0.6	1.0	0.6	0.8	0.8
Hungary	32	31	21	30	28	3.1	3.0	2.0	2.9	2.7
Ireland	6	3	2	1	0	1.8	0.9	0.7	0.2	0.1
Italy	209	218	145	165	180	3.6	3.8	2.5	2.9	3.1
Latvia	2	2	2	0	0	0.9	0.6	0.6	0.1	0.2
Lithuania	4	3	3	1	1	1.2	0.8	0.7	0.3	0.1
Luxembourg	4	4	1	2	5	9.6	9.3	3.7	4.7	13.1
Netherlands	82	88	40	29	100	5.5	5.9	2.7	1.9	6.7
Norway	1	2	1	1	1	0.2	0.4	0.2	0.2	0.3
Poland	106	157	55	65	64	2.8	4.1	1.4	1.7	1.7
Portugal	31	16	11	15	6	3.2	1.6	1.1	1.5	0.6
R. of Moldova	2	4	1	3	2	0.5	1.0	0.3	0.7	0.4
Romania	19	26	9	19	18	0.8	1.1	0.4	0.8	0.8
Russia	43	12	9	5	5	0.4	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.0
Slovakia	20	17	11	13	14	3.9	3.2	2.0	2.5	2.6
Slovenia	5	7	3	4	4	2.6	3.6	1.3	1.9	2.1
Spain	81	34	20	21	22	2.2	0.9	0.5	0.6	0.6
Sweden	5	7	3	3	4	0.6	0.8	0.3	0.3	0.4
Switzerland	17	20	7	6	19	2.6	3.0	1.1	0.9	2.8
FYRMacedonia	0	1	0	0	0	0.1	0.3	0.1	0.2	0.1
Ukraine	44	44	16	22	15	0.9	0.9	0.3	0.4	0.3
United Kingdom	179	128	78	54	124	3.1	2.2	1.4	0.9	2.2
F.Yugoslavia	6	7	4	6	7	0.5	0.7	0.3	0.6	0.7
5										
Total	1970	1914	890	928	1707	2.9	2.8	1.3	1.4	2.5

Table 4.2: Population exposure indices for the emissions of the year 1990, for the five meteorological conditions

As explained in the Introduction, the goal of the report is to analyse alternative strategies for reducing ground-level ozone in Europe. Having explored the range for possible improvement as constrained by the current policy on the one side and the maximum technically feasible emission reductions on the other (see Section 4.2), the question of appropriate environmental targets becomes important.

A useful strategic environmental target should provide for a reasonable geographical spread of the environmental improvements. As with other environmental problems explored previously, the extent to which ground-level ozone exceeds the long-term environmental targets also shows great variations over the area of Europe. A strategy targeted solely at the improvement of the worst situation, e.g., the reduction of the highest excess exposure, will fail to reach a balanced set of measures and environmental improvements across Europe, since regions with less excess exposure would be excluded from the concern of the strategy. One way to attain a balanced distribution of environmental improvement, and of the implied emission control measures, across the region was to introduce the 'gap closure' concept. The gap was defined as the excess of the long-term environmental target in the base year, and the goal was to reduce this gap everywhere by an equal percentage. In principle, such a gap closure concept also appears useful for ground-level ozone.

A further prerequisite for an environmental target is the practical possibility to achieve it. This feasibility is influenced by the lowest achievable emission levels (the MFR scenario), but, particularly for ozone, also to a large extent by the actual meteorological conditions under which the target should be attained.

Determining a target and designing a strategy that considers only mean meteorology might result in the situation that in some years the environmental targets will not be met. As an illustration, Figure 4.10 displays the AOT60 (on the y-axis) for individual EMEP grids (along the x-axis) for the different meteorological regimes available for this analysis, always assuming constant emissions of 1990. The graph demonstrates that, compared to the mean meteorology, in certain years the actual AOT60 could reach levels twice as high, while in other years it could be 50 percent lower. It is interesting to note that the year with the maximum AOT60 is not always the same (for many grids it is 1989, indicated by the triangles; but for some grids the highest AOT60 occurs for 1994 - the diamonds). Also the relation between the AOT60 of a particular year and the mean is not constant over all of Europe. As a consequence, it will be necessary to address explicitly the question of the meteorological variations in the process of target setting.

Figure 4.11 displays for the various grid cells (along the x-axis, ordered according to EMEP x-coordinates) the maximum possible gap closure in terms of AOT60 resulting from the maximum technically feasible emission reductions for the different meteorological conditions. It is important to realize from this graph that there are a few grids, where for single years the maximum possible gap closure is exceptionally low. For example, two grids in the UK have a maximum gap closure of only 50% for the meteorology of 1990. A similarly low improvement is possible for two grids in the Netherlands and one in Portugal for the meteorological conditions of 1993. Applying the 'flat gap closure' principle to the full set of data would limit the ambition level to somewhat less than a 50% gap closure for all grids, although for most grids - and even for these 'difficult' grids for other meteorological conditions - a much higher improvement would be possible. The implied focus on high-NO, regions would also

lead to a preference for VOC reductions with a general tendency to minimize NO_x reductions. It will be shown later that for many countries NO_x reductions will play an important role in balanced ozone reduction strategies.



Figure 4.10: AOT60 for the emissions of 1990, using mean meteorological conditions and the meteorologies for the five individual years



Figure 4.11: Maximum possible gap closure for the EMEP grids for the different meteorological conditions

The decision about the appropriate ambition level for the target setting must be left to the political process. However, there are some important methodological aspects to consider. From Figure 4.11 it is clear that, if a strategy is designed for the worst case, it will be driven by the available estimates for some extreme events. At the same time, it is unclear how representative the meteorological conditions of the five available years are in a longer time frame. There might be worse years, but it might also be that one of these years represents an extreme and rare event. Furthermore, it also seems questionable to rely on the performance of the available models for a few extreme events.

Without prejudging the outcome of a policy process, an attempt has been made to arrive at a broader base for the strategy analysis. For the reasons discussed above it does not appear advisable to drive a policy by a few extreme events. Arbitrarily, for each individual grid the meteorological conditions leading to the least possible gap closure have been excluded from the analysis. In other words, the objective of the strategy was set to achieve the ozone exposure targets (to be specified later) in four out of five years. Obviously, if more data become available, another 'percentile' could be selected.

It is important to mention that the year with the least possible gap closure does not necessarily coincide with the year producing the highest AOT60. In many cases it is more difficult to achieve a high gap closure in a 'low ozone' year (i.a., due to the influence of background ozone). Figure 4.12 displays the year for which the target has been excluded for each grid.



Figure 4.12: Year with the lowest gap closure of the maximum feasible emission reductions. These grid-year combinations have been excluded from the optimization

The exclusion of the worst meteorological conditions leads to the situation that at least a 60% gap closure is achievable for all grids by the maximum technically feasible

emission reductions. Obviously, such a 60% gap closure is not a practical target; for many countries the maximum feasible measures are associated with very high costs.

It was explained in Section 2.5.2 how a 'reduced form' model for ozone formation has been constructed using statistical methods. In the case of the AOT60 a statistical problem occurs due to the fact that the AOT index is a non-continuous function: Every ppb in excess of 60 ppb counts, while every ppb of ozone concentrations below the 60 ppb threshold is disregarded. It is difficult accurately to approximate this feature with a linear regression. Inevitably, the quality of the fit is worst just around the 60 ppb level, or for low AOT60 values. (The problem is less severe for the AOT40, since the interest lies in ozone exposure above the critical level of three ppm.hours, which is sufficiently above the non-continuity).

In order not to transfer this inaccuracy to the strategy development, all grids where in 1990 the AOT60 was below 1 ppm.hour were excluded from the optimization analysis. In practice, this criterion excluded some grids in the northern UK, in Scandinavia and in remote Mediterranean areas. This means that for grids where in 1990 the AOT60 was relatively low (one ppm.hour relates to typically less than five days with a violation of the WHO Guideline in UK and Scandinavia and less than ten days in Mediterranean countries) no gap-closure targets were specified, so that these grids would not drive the optimization. Of course, measures targeted at the remaining receptors in these countries will also improve the situation at these sites.

4.3.3 Scenarios D1-D6 : 50 Percent Gap Closure for AOT60

Scenarios D1-D6 establish a 50 percent gap closure of the AOT60 (i.e., a 50 percent reduction of the AOT60 estimated for 1990) as an environmental target. The optimization analysis to identify the cost-optimal combination of measures for achieving this target was carried out in two steps:

- In a first step, five optimization runs for the five meteorological conditions were carried out (Scenarios D1 to D5). As discussed earlier, for each grid the target for the year with the lowest MFR gap closure was excluded.
- In a second step, an optimization was carried out, in which the targets for all five meteorological conditions (excluding the individually worst year) were considered simultaneously (Scenario D6). This means that this 'composite' optimization identified the least-cost set of measures that will achieve all specified environmental targets (i.e., the 50 percent gap closure of AOT60 in four out of five years).

Table 4.3 to Table 4.5 compare emission reductions of NO_x , VOC and the emission control costs for the 50 percent gap closure scenarios. The results show that reducing the AOT60 puts main pressure on VOC emissions. Compared to the level of the CRP* scenario (15022 kt VOC), the optimization suggests for the individual years a range between 12917 kt for 1992 and 13756 kt in 1993. Compared with the minimum emissions over all countries (12219 kt), the composite optimization for all years results in 12649 kt, while achieving the same environmental targets. The reductions in NO_x emissions are smaller: compared to the level of 16859 kt of the CRP* scenario, the 1993 optimization results in 16419 kt, while the 1990 meteorology yields 16753 kt. The cumulative minimum emissions are 16046 kt, while the composite optimization suggests 16502 kt. Emission control costs (on top of CRP*) range between 1318 in 1994 and 2458 million ECU/year for the 1990 meteorology. As a result of the composite optimization, costs are 17% lower (3160 million ECU/year).

Table 4.3: NO_{x}	emissio	ns for a	t 50 per	cent gap	o closur	e scenari	o for AOT	60 (Scena	rios D	1-D6)						
				NO ^x em	issions (kil	otons)						Change	compared	to 1990		
Country		1989	1990	1992	1993	1994	minimum	composite		1989	1990	1992	1993	1994	maximum	composite
•	CRP*	DI	D2	D3	D4	D5	1989-94	D6	CRP*	DI	D2	D3	D4	D5	1989-94	, De
Albania	30	30	30	30	30	30	30	30	25%	25%	25%	25%	25%	25%	25%	25%
Austria	155	155	155	155	151	155	151	155	-36%	-36%	-36%	-36%	-38%	-36%	-38%	-36%
Belarus	315	315	278	315	315	294	278	277	-22%	-22%	-31%	-22%	-22%	-27%	-31%	-31%
Belgium	222	222	222	222	160	166	160	222	-39%	-39%	-39%	-39%	-56%	-54%	-56%	-39%
Bosnia-H	61	61	61	61	59	61	59	61	-24%	-24%	-24%	-24%	-26%	-24%	-26%	-24%
Bulgaria	290	286	290	290	290	290	286	290	-18%	-19%	-18%	-18%	-18%	-18%	-19%	-18%
Croatia	83	83	83	83	83	83	83	83	0%	0%	0%	%0	0%	%0	0%	0%
Czech R.	305	305	305	305	293	305	293	305	-42%	-42%	-42%	-42%	-44%	-42%	-44%	-42%
Denmark	134	134	134	134	134	134	134	134	-51%	-51%	-51%	-51%	-51%	-51%	-51%	-51%
Estonia	72	72	72	72	72	72	72	72	-14%	-14%	-14%	-14%	-14%	-14%	-14%	-14%
Finland	203	203	203	203	203	203	203	203	-27%	-27%	-27%	-27%	-27%	-27%	-27%	-27%
France	791	771	791	689	726	689	689	775	-51%	-52%	-51%	-57%	-55%	-57%	-57%	-52%
Germany	1819	1819	1819	1819	1819	1771	1771	1819	-39%	-39%	-39%	-39%	-39%	-41%	-41%	-39%
Greece	365	365	365	365	365	365	365	365	-7%	-7%	-7%	-7%	-7%	-7%	-7%	-7%
Hungary	196	186	196	196	181	196	181	195	-8%	-13%	-8%	-8%	-15%	-8%	-15%	-9%
Ireland	69	69	69	69	69	69	69	69	-36%	-36%	-36%	-36%	-36%	-36%	-36%	-36%
Italv	1260	1247	1260	1260	1260	1260	1247	1260	-37%	-38%	-37%	-37%	-37%	-37%	-38%	-37%
Latvia	115	115	115	115	115	115	115	115	1%	1%	1%	1%	1%	1%	1%	1%
Lithuania	137	137	137	137	137	137	137	137	-9%	-9%	-9%	-9%	-9%	-9%	-9%	%6-
Luxembourg	12	12	12	12	12	12	12	12	-43%	-43%	-43%	-43%	-43%	-43%	-43%	-43%
Netherlands	270	270	270	270	270	270	270	270	-50%	-50%	-50%	-50%	-50%	-50%	-50%	-50%
Norway	161	161	161	161	161	161	161	161	-30%	-30%	-30%	-30%	-30%	-30%	-30%	-30%
Poland	1004	1000	1004	1004	841	915	841	995	-17%	-17%	-17%	-17%	-30%	-24%	-30%	-18%
Portugal	190	120	190	173	127	190	120	120	-9%	-42%	-9%	-17%	-39%	-9%	-42%	-42%
R. of Moldova	63	63	63	63	63	63	63	63	-28%	-28%	-28%	-28%	-28%	-28%	-28%	-28%
Romania	453	390	425	453	430	453	390	401	-12%	-24%	-17%	-12%	-16%	-12%	-24%	-22%
Russia	2642	2642	2642	2642	2642	2642	2642	2642	-24%	-24%	-24%	-24%	-24%	-24%	-24%	-24%
Slovakia	134	123	133	134	125	131	123	127	-35%	-41%	-36%	-35%	-40%	-37%	-41%	-39%
Slovenia	31	31	31	31	31	31	31	31	-48%	-48%	-48%	-48%	-48%	-48%	-48%	-48%
Spain	844	803	844	701	844	844	102	722	-28%	-32%	-28%	-40%	-28%	-28%	-40%	-39%
Sweden	247	247	247	247	247	247	247	247	-28%	-28%	-28%	-28%	-28%	-28%	-28%	-28%
Switzerland	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	-38%	-38%	-38%	-38%	-38%	-38%	-38%	-38%
FYRMacedonia	29	29	29	29	29	29	29	29	-26%	-26%	-26%	-26%	-26%	-26%	-26%	-26%
Ukraine	1094	1094	1068	1094	1094	1094	1068	1081	-42%	-42%	-43%	-42%	-42%	-42%	-43%	-43%
United Kingdom	1186	1186	1186	1186	1186	1186	1186	1186	-55%	-55%	-55%	-55%	-55%	-55%	-55%	-55%
F.Yugoslavia	147	109	133	147	125	147	109	118	-30%	-48%	-37%	-30%	-41%	-30%	-48%	-44%
	110	110	110	110	110	110	110	011	/00/)00	òò	00	òõ	òò	/00/	00
Aualiuc Ocean Dolta Cao	116	116	116	116	00	116	116	116	0%0	040	040	040 0	0%0	040	0/0	%0 700
North Sea	00 639	00 639	00 639	00 639	00 639	90 639	639	639 639	%0	%0	%0 0%0	%0	%0 0%	%0	%0	%0 0
)	2	2	2	2	2	1	1	2	2	2	2	2	2		2
Total	16859	16585	16753	16597	16419	16540	16046	16502	-32%	-34%	-33%	-34%	-34%	-34%	-36%	-34%

		composite	D6	37%	-27%	-5%	-64%	29%	-21%	-9%	-42%	-38%	14%	-44%	-48%	-65%	-34%	-28%	-40%	-37%	12%	-13%	-51%	-68%	-37%	-20%	-49%	-14%	-16%	-16%	-31%	-47%	-45%	-36%	-42%	8%	-37%	%69-	10%	VOC P
		maximum	1989-94	37%	-27%	-5%	-65%	22%	-21%	-22%	-51%	-38%	14%	-44%	-59%	-64%	-39%	-26%	-40%	-37%	12%	-13%	-51%	-68%	-37%	-29%	-51%	-14%	-15%	-16%	-32%	-47%	-46%	-36%	-42%	8%	-37%	-70%	2%	70//
1 to 1990		1994	D5	37%	-27%	-5%	-60%	29%	-21%	-9%	-30%	-38%	14%	-44%	-59%	-61%	-32%	-25%	-40%	-37%	12%	-13%	-51%	-60%	-37%	-14%	-27%	-14%	-6%	-15%	-26%	-47%	-23%	-36%	-42%	8%	-37%	-57%	10%	3002
compared		19.93	D4	37%	-27%	-5%	-56%	22%	-21%	-9%	-32%	-38%	14%	-44%	-33%	-60%	-31%	-22%	-40%	-36%	12%	-13%	-51%	-66%	-37%	-3%	-36%	-14%	-9%	-15%	-28%	-47%	-23%	-36%	-42%	8%	-37%	-66%	2%	70/2
Change	Sumbo	1992	D3	37%	-27%	-5%	-65%	29%	-21%	-22%	-51%	-38%	14%	-44%	-59%	-63%	-31%	-23%	-40%	-33%	12%	-13%	-51%	-67%	-37%	-29%	-27%	-14%	-5%	-15%	-22%	-47%	-23%	-36%	-42%	8%	-37%	-65%	10%	7007
		1990	D2	37%	-27%	-5%	-63%	29%	-21%	-9%	-31%	-38%	14%	-44%	-30%	-64%	-31%	-21%	-40%	-26%	12%	-13%	-51%	-68%	-37%	-9%	-27%	-14%	-11%	-16%	-24%	-47%	-23%	-36%	-42%	8%	-37%	-70%	10%	70/2
		1989	D1	37%	-27%	-5%	-61%	29%	-21%	-9%	-34%	-38%	14%	-44%	-56%	-57%	-39%	-26%	-40%	-26%	12%	-13%	-51%	-61%	-37%	-13%	-51%	-14%	-15%	-15%	-32%	-47%	-46%	-36%	-42%	8%	-37%	-67%	5%	1002
	_		CRP*	37%	-27%	-5%	-35%	29%	-21%	-9%	-27%	-38%	14%	-44%	-30%	-48%	-31%	-17%	-40%	-26%	12%	-13%	-51%	-45%	-37%	0%	-27%	-14%	-5%	-15%	-22%	-47%	-23%	-36%	-42%	8%	-37%	-53%	10%	3102
		composite	D6	40	305	320	123	58	152	80	162	108	55	108	1253	1100	195	124	57	1165	68	76	6	151	168	551	100	60	490	2802	100	25	569	287	170	15	671	826	106	17640
		minimum	1989-94	40	305	321	120	55	152	68	138	108	55	108	980	1105	180	127	57	1167	68	76	9	150	168	490	96	60	492	2799	98	25	557	287	170	15	671	804	98	01661
otons)	(1000	1994	D5	40	305	321	135	58	152	80	198	108	55	108	980	1210	201	130	57	1167	68	76	6	186	168	589	144	60	548	2838	107	25	794	287	170	15	671	1157	106	12272
issions (kil		1993	D4	40	305	321	150	55	152	80	190	108	55	108	1608	1229	205	134	57	1187	68	76	6	158	168	667	126	60	527	2839	104	25	794	287	170	15	671	910	98	13756
VOC em		1992	D3	40	305	321	120	58	152	68	138	108	55	108	982	1147	205	132	57	1244	68	76	6	153	168	490	144	60	553	2839	113	25	794	287	170	15	671	936	106	71001
	0	1990	D2	40	305	321	126	58	152	80	193	108	55	108	1665	1105	205	137	57	1365	68	76	6	150	168	627	144	60	515	2799	109	25	794	287	170	15	671	804	106	13677
		1989	D1	40	305	321	131	58	152	80	185	108	55	108	1048	1341	180	127	57	1365	68	76	6	180	168	597	96	60	492	2839	98	25	557	287	170	15	671	868	101	13068
	-		CRP*	40	305	321	220	58	152	80	205	108	55	108	1665	1616	205	143	57	1365	68	76	6	258	168	687	144	60	553	2839	113	25	794	287	170	15	671	1276	106	15000
	1	Country		Albania	Austria	Belarus	Belgium	Bosnia-H	Bulgaria	Croatia	Czech R.	Denmark	Estonia	Finland	France	Germany	Greece	Hungary	Ireland	Italy	Latvia	Lithuania	Luxembourg	Netherlands	Norway	Poland	Portugal	R. of Moldova	Romania	Russia	Slovakia	Slovenia	Spain	Sweden	Switzerland	FYRMacedonia	Ukraine	United Kingdom	F.Yugoslavia	Totol

9
Ą
Ξ
Ц
SC
Ξ
na
õ
Š
90
Ē
Q
\triangleleft
or
Ę
10
ar
ñ
ğ
0
Ĩ
เร
9
~ `
Š
ap c
gap c
ent gap c
cent gap c
ercent gap c
percent gap c
50 percent gap c
a 50 percent gap c
r a 50 percent gap c
for a 50 percent gap c
is for a 50 percent gap c
ons for a 50 percent gap o
sions for a 50 percent gap of
issions for a 50 percent gap c
missions for a 50 percent gap of
centissions for a 50 percent gap of
OC emissions for a 50 percent gap o
/OC emissions for a 50 percent gap o
: VOC emissions for a 50 percent gap c
.4: VOC emissions for a 50 percent gap c
4.4: VOC emissions for a 50 percent gap o
le 4.4: VOC emissions for a 50 percent gap c
able 4.4: VOC emissions for a 50 percent gap o
Table 4.4: VOC emissions for a 50 percent gap o

	Total			Additiona	al costs or	n top of C	CRP*	
Country	costs	1989	1990	1992	1993	1994	maximum	composite
	CRP*	D1	D2	D3	D4	D5	1989-94	D6
Albania	14	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Austria	844	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Belarus	30	0	6	0	0	2	6	7
Belgium	1094	68	83	103	80	95	103	90
Bosnia-H	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Bulgaria	142	1	0	0	0	0	1	0
Croatia	52	0	0	5	0	0	5	0
Czech R.	623	1	0	48	2	0	48	11
Denmark	449	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Estonia	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Finland	685	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
France	5908	408	0	521	50	524	524	249
Germany	8841	184	484	404	373	336	484	489
Greece	832	10	0	0	0	1	10	3
Hungary	479	11	0	1	13	2	13	6
Ireland	471	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Italy	6206	0	0	0	23	38	38	39
Latvia	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Lithuania	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Luxembourg	72	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Netherlands	2137	83	163	150	132	71	163	157
Norway	471	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Poland	1820	10	2	95	42	30	95	32
Portugal	949	347	0	6	115	0	347	315
R. of Moldova	12	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Romania	140	18	3	0	1	0	18	14
Russia	923	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Slovakia	348	4	0	0	1	0	4	2
Slovenia	132	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Spain	3538	161	0	51	0	0	161	186
Sweden	1129	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Switzerland	605	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
FYRMacedonia	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Ukraine	1144	0	37	0	0	0	37	19
United Kingdom	5721	1060	1670	881	999	219	1670	1500
F.Yugoslavia	0	75	10	0	25	0	75	41
Atlantic Ocean	231	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Baltic Sea	26	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
North Sea	159	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Total	46232	2441	2458	2265	1856	1318	3802	3160

Table 4.5: Costs for a 50 percent gap closure scenario for AOT60 (D1-D6), in million ECU/year

Figure 4.13 displays the 'binding' grids for the composite scenario D6, i.e., the grids where the optimized AOT60 level is at, or closely below, the specified targets. For all other grids the gap closure is higher than stipulated. It is in the nature of an optimized result that modifications of the target of such 'binding' grid cells will influence the optimized emission reductions. For the 50% gap closure scenario, binding grid cells occur in the UK, Portugal, Italy, Greece, F. Yugoslavia, Poland and Ukraine.



Figure 4.13: Binding grids for the D6 scenario. The map indicates where the AOT60 after the optimization is exactly at (grids indicated with 'aot60') or is very close to [indicated with '(aot60)'] the target level. At all other grids the optimized AOT60 is below the specified target.

Examining the measures of individual countries, the main action on NO_x emissions would be required in Belarus, Belgium, France, Hungary, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Slovakia and F. Yugoslavia (Figure 4.14), depending on the meteorological conditions. While for Belarus and Portugal the composite optimization results in the maximum NO_x reduction spanned by the solutions for the individual years, for Belgium the composite scenario ends at the lowest point, and for the other countries at intermediate points in the range. For VOC (Figure 4.15), a number of countries would take action in at least one year. The composite optimization ends typically close to the lowest emissions spanned by the individual years.

Figure 4.16 shows the emission reductions of the AOT60-related gap closure scenario beyond those of the CRP* scenario and illustrates the preference for further VOC reductions. Only Yugoslavia and Belarus would control only NO, emissions, while Portugal, Spain, Romania and Slovakia embark on additional measures to control both pollutants. Many other countries show a strong priority for VOC control, which is sometimes caused by lower marginal costs for further VOC measures after the implementation of the CRP* scenario, but largely by the atmospheric chemistry responsible for the reduction of the higher ozone concentrations.



Figure 4.14: NO_x reductions for the 50 percent gap closure scenarios for the AOT60 (Scenarios D1-D6), compared to 1990



Figure 4.15: VOC reductions for the 50 percent gap closure scenarios for the AOT60 (Scenarios D1-D6), compared to 1990


Figure 4.16: Further $\mathrm{NO}_{\rm x}$ and VOC reductions (beyond CRP*) for the AOT60 gap closure scenario D6



Figure 4.17: Cost-effectiveness of the 50% gap closure composite scenario for the AOT60

Table 4.6 lists the population exposure indices of the D6 composite AOT60 gap closure scenario based on the calculated five-year mean AOT60. Overall across Europe, this scenario achieves a reduction of 46% in the cumulative exposure index compared to the CRP* scenario. Figure 4.17 compares the costs of the D6 scenario against the improvements in the cumulative population exposure index.

Country	Cumulativ	e population	n exposure	Average	population of	exposure
Country	(million	noreon nor	a hours)		(nnm houre)	
		person.ppn	I.IIOUIS)	ע מער	(ppin.nours)	MED
	CRP*	D6	MFK	CRP*	D6	MFK
Albania	1	1	0	0.2	0.2	0.0
Austria	8	4	0	1.1	0.6	0.0
Belarus	4	2	0	0.3	0.2	0.0
Belgium	44	23	14	4.0	2.1	1.3
Bosnia-H	2	1	0	0.4	0.2	0.0
Bulgaria	3	1	0	0.3	0.2	0.0
Croatia	5	3	0	1.1	0.7	0.0
Czech R.	19	10	0	1.8	1.0	0.0
Denmark	5	3	0	1.1	0.5	0.0
Estonia	0	0	0	0.2	0.1	0.0
Finland	0	0	0	0.1	0.1	0.0
France	156	68	25	2.7	1.2	0.4
Germany	226	122	52	2.9	1.5	0.7
Greece	3	3	0	0.3	0.3	0.0
Hungary	17	10	0	1.7	1.0	0.0
Ireland	2	1	0	0.5	0.2	0.0
Italy	86	65	2	1.5	1.1	0.0
Latvia	1	0	0	0.4	0.2	0.0
Lithuania	2	1	0	0.5	0.2	0.0
Luxembourg	2	1	1	4.7	2.6	1.3
Netherlands	48	26	17	3.2	1.7	1.1
Norway	1	0	0	0.1	0.1	0.0
Poland	58	31	0	1.5	0.8	0.0
Portugal	10	6	3	1.0	0.6	0.3
R. of Moldova	2	1	0	0.5	0.2	0.0
Romania	13	6	0	0.6	0.3	0.0
Russia	11	9	0	0.1	0.1	0.0
Slovakia	9	5	0	1.7	1.0	0.0
Slovenia	2	1	0	1.2	0.7	0.0
Spain	18	7	0	0.5	0.2	0.0
Sweden	2	1	0	0.3	0.1	0.0
Switzerland	6	3	0	0.8	0.4	0.0
FYRMacedonia	0	0	0	0.1	0.1	0.0
Ukraine	19	12	0	0.4	0.2	0.0
United Kingdom	99	48	18	1.7	0.8	0.3
F.Yugoslavia	5	2	0	0.4	0.2	0.0
Total	889	477	132	1.3	0.7	0.2

Table 4.6: Population exposure indices for the AOT60 gap closure scenario

5 Ground-level Ozone: Vegetation Effects

While the preceding section focused on a health-related ozone exposure criterion, the following analysis explores important features of strategies aimed at reducing the risk of ozone-induced damage to vegetation. In the absence of accepted dose-response curves applicable at the large scale, the analysis uses the concept of critical thresholds as developed within the framework of the UN/ECE Convention on Long-range Transboundary Air Pollution. The Working Group on Effects of this Convention has established two long-term related critical levels:

- For agricultural crops and herbaceous plant communities (natural vegetation), the critical level is set at an AOT40 of 3 ppm.hours for the growing season and daylight hours, over a five-year period;
- For forest trees, a critical level of 10 ppm.hours for daylight hours, accumulated over a six-month growing season, is proposed.

The AOT40 is calculated as the sum of the differences between the hourly ozone concentrations in ppb and 40 ppb for each hour when the concentration exceeds 40 ppb, using daylight hours only.

For the currently prevailing European ozone regime the critical level for crops and natural vegetation is stricter than the critical level for forest trees; in other words, while the critical level for forest trees is usually met when the critical level for crops and vegetation is achieved, the opposite statement does not hold. Based on this finding it has been decided to restrict the scenario analysis to the critical levels for crops and natural vegetation. If considered necessary, however, there are no methodological problems to prevent exploring scenarios for the achievement of the critical levels for forest trees separately.

5.1 The Situation in 1990 and the Scope for Improvement

Before assessing the potential for further improvement of the AOT40 exposure in Europe, the situation in 1990 and the possible range of future development is outlined.

Figure 5.1 displays the excess AOT40 (over the critical level of 3 ppm.hours) calculated for the emissions of the year 1990 using the five-year mean meteorology. The map shows clearly the large area of Europe in which the AOT40 was exceeded. The only exceptions are parts of the Scandinavian countries. In an area extending from Paris over Belgium and Netherlands to Germany the excess AOT40 reached up to 16 ppm.hours, i.e., it exceeded the critical level by more than a factor of five. It is noteworthy that ozone levels in many areas which do not experience any substantial excess of the AOT60 do, however, exceed the AOT40 criterion significantly. This applies particularly to the Mediterranean countries and some Alpine regions.

The emission reductions of the CRP* scenario will generally lead to a decline of the excess AOT40, but will not significantly increase the protected area (Figure 5.2). The maximum feasible emission reductions are expected to achieve a 50 percent and higher cut of the excess AOT40 in most regions (Figure 5.3).



Figure 5.1: Excess AOT40 above the critical level of 3 ppm.hours for the year 1990 (using five years mean meteorology), in ppm.hours. Land area left blank had no excess in 1990.



Figure 5.2: Excess AOT40 above the critical level of 3 ppm.hours for the CRP* scenario in 2010 (using five years mean meteorology), in ppm.hours. Areas left blank had no excess in this scenario.



Figure 5.3: Excess AOT40 above the critical level of 3 ppm.hours for the maximum feasible emission reductions in 2010 (using five years mean meteorology), in ppm.hours. Areas left blank had no excess in this scenario.

Table 5.1 introduces two vegetation-related exposure indices. The cumulative vegetation exposure index is calculated as the excess AOT40 (i.e., the AOT40 in excess of the critical level of 3 ppm.hours) multiplied by the area of ecosystems which are exposed to the excess concentration. The index is calculated on a grid resolution, considering agricultural land, natural vegetation and forest areas. The average vegetation exposure index reflects the average excess AOT40 (over all grids in a country). The estimate of these indices is based on rural ozone concentrations.

In 1990, France, Germany, Spain and Italy experienced the highest cumulative indices. Per ecosystem, the highest exposure was experienced in Luxembourg, France, Italy, Belgium, Germany, Slovenia and the Czech Republic. The current reduction measures are expected to decrease the indices by about 20% across Europe as a whole, which is significantly lower than the expected decline in the health-related exposure indices (40%). While some areas (Ireland, Sweden, etc.) achieve a 50% reduction, the expected improvement in Belgium and the Netherlands is only about 10%, and in the UK the cumulative vegetation exposure index shows a 10% *increase* for the CRP* scenario. This low, or non-existent, improvement is caused by features of ozone chemistry in high-NO_x regions, as outlined below. The maximum feasible reductions would overcome these effects and lead to a 70% reduction in the vegetation exposure index for Europe as a whole.

Country	Cum	ulative vege	etation	Average	vegetation	exposure
	e	exposure ind	ex		index	
	(mill	ion hectares	excess	(ex	cess ppm.h	ours)
		ppm.hours)			
	1990	CRP*	MFR	1990	CRP*	MFR
Albania	8	7	3	4.8	3.9	1.5
Austria	48	36	14	9.4	7.0	2.7
Belarus	15	11	1	1.6	1.3	0.1
Belgium	18	16	10	11.3	10.3	6.2
Bosnia-H	25	21	9	6.6	5.4	2.3
Bulgaria	37	31	14	4.9	4.1	1.9
Croatia	34	28	14	9.5	7.9	3.9
Czech R.	57	43	14	10.2	7.7	2.6
Denmark	14	9	1	4.7	3.1	0.3
Estonia	0	0	0	0.1	0.0	0.0
Finland	0	0	0	0.0	0.0	0.0
France	405	315	133	12.5	9.8	4.1
Germany	235	174	65	11.1	8.2	3.0
Greece	24	21	8	4.4	3.8	1.4
Hungary	64	51	20	9.9	7.9	3.1
Ireland	2	1	0	1.0	0.6	0.0
Italy	181	136	73	11.5	8.7	4.7
Latvia	4	2	0	0.9	0.4	0.0
Lithuania	7	5	0	1.8	1.2	0.0
Luxembourg	2	2	1	15.9	12.3	5.4
Netherlands	10	9	5	8.0	7.0	4.0
Norway	0	0	0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Poland	149	123	26	6.5	5.4	1.2
Portugal	37	30	16	6.4	5.2	2.8
R. of Moldova	6	6	2	3.7	3.8	1.3
Romania	84	73	28	5.3	4.7	1.8
Russia	110	87	30	0.6	0.5	0.2
Slovakia	34	28	10	9.4	7.7	2.7
Slovenia	14	11	6	10.6	8.5	4.4
Spain	203	151	56	6.6	4.9	1.8
Sweden	13	6	0	0.4	0.2	0.0
Switzerland	16	11	5	8.9	6.2	2.7
FYRMacedonia	5	5	2	3.5	3.0	1.2
Ukraine	145	125	48	3.7	3.2	1.2
United Kingdom	21	23	11	2.6	2.7	1.3
F.Yugoslavia	34	29	13	5.0	4.3	1.8
Total	2061	1626	638	3.9	3.1	1.2

Table 5.1: Vegetation exposure indices for 1990, the CRP* Scenario in 2010 and the maximum feasible emission reductions

The explanation for the expected increase, in some areas, in AOT40, and consequently in the vegetation exposure index, for the CRP* scenario is related to the ozone formation chemistry. Put in a rather simplistic way, very high NO concentrations (in areas with high NO_x emissions) have two effects: (a) they lead to the titration of ozone, i.e., the conversion of ozone and NO into NO₂, and (b) they cause a (partial) depletion of OH radicals. This resulting shortage of OH radicals at such high NO_x levels limits ozone production. Reducing NO_x emissions from such a high level will increase the available OH radicals, and more ozone will be produced, until NO_x emissions are so low that the ozone production will be limited by the available NO₂ molecules. As indicated in Figure 5.5, reducing NO_x will lead for some time to increased ozone. Beyond a certain NO_x reduction level, however, ozone will decline again.

Figure 5.4 supports this explanation by illustrating the NO_x emission densities in Europe in 1990. Emissions in the areas where the increase in AOT40 occurs (UK, and, to a lesser extent, Belgium and the Netherlands) are up to a factor of 10 higher than in other industrialized European regions (compare, e.g., southern Germany).

In general, Figure 5.4 also outlines the region in Europe where the non-linear ozone response is important and where lower NO_x emissions could cause increased ozone. In other regions this phenomenon does not occur (due to lower NO_x emission densities), and a reduction of NO_x will always result in lower ozone.

It is also worth emphasizing that this ozone increase disappears for the maximum feasible emission reductions (see Figure 5.5). This means that sufficiently high NO_x reductions (which are considered as technically feasible) can overcome the temporary ozone increase everywhere.



Figure 5.4: NO_x emissions per EMEP grid cell in 1990 (in tonnes)



NOx emissions relative to 1990, %

Figure 5.5: A typical ozone isopleth diagram for the non-linear region. The isopleths indicate the ozone concentrations (e.g., in terms of AOT40) as a function of NO_x and VOC emissions. Starting from the level in 1990 (the upper right corner), NO_x reductions (along the x-axis, to the left) will initially increase ozone and only after a certain reduction level lead to an ozone decrease.

5.2 An Optimized Scenario for the AOT40

Keeping in mind the possible scope for improvement, the selection of an appropriate environmental target for an ozone strategy becomes relevant. From the maps above it is clear that the AOT40 levels vary greatly over Europe, both for the CRP* scenario and for the maximum feasible emission reductions. Consequently, setting an absolute target in terms of AOT40 will affect necessarily only a small region, but will not force improvements for most other regions which already have lower excess ozone.

Similar situations have occurred for other environmental problems, such as acidification. In such cases the use of a gap-closure principle, i.e., establishing a relative measure for the excess exposure, offered useful solutions.

Figure 5.6 examines the situation for the AOT40. The graph compares for each EMEP grid cell on the x-axis (ordered according to the gap closure achieved by the CRP* scenario) the possible gap closure of the maximum feasible emission reductions (with the diamond symbols, along the y-axis). The figure clearly shows that there are some grids with a negative gap closure of the CRP* scenario, i.e., where the excess AOT40 of the CRP* scenario will be higher than it was in the year 1990. The reason for this is the non-linear ozone chemistry for high NO_x regions, discussed above. However, the graph clearly demonstrates that there is a certain scope for improvement in these regions (even compared to the 1990 situation), if the emissions are reduced further.

The most important conclusion from this graph is that there are several grids where the maximum achievable gap closure for the excess AOT40 is in the range of 30-40 percent. Unfortunately, some of these grids show quite high ozone and should not, therefore, be eliminated from the improvement strategy. This means that a conventional 'uniform' gap closure target, as applied for acidification, would be limited, realistically, to about 20%. On the other hand, the graph also shows that for about two-thirds of the grid cells the CRP* scenario will result in an improvement of more than 20%, so that such a target would not force substantial, widespread environmental improvement over Europe.

A further complication arises from the fact that the low possible gap closures of AOT40 occur in those regions where the non-linearity in ozone formation prevails. Optimized strategies focusing on these regions will inevitably propose exclusively further VOC reductions and will keep the NO_x as high as possible.

Theoretically, there are several possibilities to overcome these problems in target setting:

- One could specify a certain uniform gap closure target and exclude all grids from the optimization where this target is not achievable. In practice this would mean excluding entire countries (Belgium, Netherlands, large parts of the UK) from the analysis, where the ozone problem is serious and the ozone formation chemistry works in a different (non-linear) regime from that in other countries.
- Alternatively, the gap could be defined as the difference between, e.g., the 1990 situation (or the CRP* scenario) and the maximum technically feasible reduction. In such a case a uniform gap closure could be specified which would determine the step towards the long-term environmental target in relation to the actual technical possibilities. Such an approach has certain advantages, e.g., that the target will always be achievable (by definition), and that practically all areas will experience an environmental improvement. There are, however, also serious disadvantages of such an approach:
 - 1. The basic concept of effect-based strategies ('the extent of measures is determined by environmental needs') will be replaced by a source-oriented rationale (the extent of measures is mainly determined by what is technically possible).
 - 2. There is no inherent driving force to strive for measures not considered in the set of the 'maximum technically feasible reductions'. Since in practice the current modelling approach excludes, e.g., non-technical measures and structural changes from the cost curves, the emission reduction potential of such measures would never be considered, even if there were an environmental need.
 - 3. For a number of reasons (non-existing large-scale practical experience with advanced future emission control technologies, exclusion of non-technical measures and structural changes, etc.) the maximum feasible reductions are one of the most uncertain areas of the entire current modelling framework. It seems dangerous to rely on one of the most uncertain model elements as a major driving force for strategy development.
- A third option is to define the gap closure target not in relation to 1990 (e.g., a minimum gap closure of 50% in relation to 1990), but in relation, e.g., to the CRP* scenario, which reflects much of the different characteristics of ozone formation. As shown in Figure 5.6, the CRP* scenario achieves gap closures between -20% and +100%. For most grids there is the possibility for an additional 20-30 percent improvement on top of the CRP* scenario. A practical target could, e.g., aim at increasing the gap closure by 10 percentage points compared to the CRP* scenario. An important advantage of such an approach is that it forces

improvements for all grids, and thereby will most likely achieve a balance of the measures for regions with different ozone regimes.

Again, the choice of the appropriate environmental target is a political decision. Without prejudging such a decision, the analysis carried out here adopted the last principle to provide some illustrative results for AOT40-related optimization scenarios. Arbitrarily, a 10% improvement has been selected for the illustrative scenario. Furthermore, for areas with very low (or even negative) gap closures of the CRP* scenario (where much more than a 10% improvement is achievable by the maximum feasible emission reductions), a minimum 15% gap closure (related to 1990) has been specified as an additional criterion. The selected target gap closure is indicated in Figure 5.6 by the black line.



◆ MFR ■ CRP* - TARGET (CRP*+10%)

Figure 5.6: The possible gap closure of AOT40 (on the y-axis) for the EMEP grids (along the x-axis, ordered according to their gap closure of the CRP* scenario). The maximum possible gap closure is essentially determined by the maximum feasible emission reductions (MFR). Meaningful targets for the optimization should lie between the gap closure achieved by the CRP* scenario and the MFR. TARGET indicates the illustrative choice made for this analysis.

5.2.1 Scenario D7: AOT40 CRP* + 10% Gap Closure Scenario

Table 5.2 to Table 5.4 present emission reductions and control costs for the AOT40related gap closure scenario. In comparison with the AOT60-related scenario D6, scenario D7 requires further overall reductions of both NO_x and VOC emissions (an additional 2% reduction of the 1990 emissions for both pollutants) but the additional costs (above CRP*) are 14% lower than for D6. The causes of this apparent discrepancy are revealed by examination of the differences in costs between the scenarios for individual countries. Comparing scenarios D7 and D6, the AOT40 scenario suggests more expensive measures in Belarus, Czech Republic, France, Italy, Russia, Switzerland and Ukraine, while Belgium, Germany, the Netherlands, Portugal, Spain, the UK and Yugoslavia end up with less expensive measures. The largest cost difference occurs for the UK, where the costs of the AOT40 scenario are 88% lower than those of the AOT60, related entirely to the different VOC reductions required by the two scenarios. One important reason for these differences is the different nature of the gap closure target. The AOT40 scenario aimed at further improvement - beyond CRP* - everywhere in Europe, while the AOT60 gap closure target is already partly achieved by the CRP* scenario. Consequently, although the measures required for the AOT40 scenario result in greater overall emission reductions, they are distributed more evenly across Europe. The larger costs of the AOT60 scenario reflect the measures required to achieve the AOT60 targets in the most 'difficult' grids in NW Europe, which tend to dominate the AOT60 optimization result. Another reason is the different ozone regime contributing to the AOT40 index.

The binding grids for the D7 AOT40-related scenario are shown in Figure 5.7. For this scenario the binding grids occur in the UK, Portugal, Italy, Greece and Ukraine.



Figure 5.7: Binding grids for the D7 scenario. The map indicates where the AOT40 after the optimization is exactly at (grids indicated with 'aot40') or very close to [indicated with '(aot40)'] the target level. At all other grids the optimized AOT40 level is below the specified target.

Figure 5.8 demonstrates that NO_x reductions play a role in reducing the AOT40 in more countries than was the case for AOT60.

Table 5.5 presents the vegetation exposure indices for the D7 scenario. Compared to CRP*, D7 achieves a 31% decrease in the overall vegetation index. The largest relative improvements occur for Ireland, Sweden and Lithuania, where significant parts of their ecosystems will achieve the critical levels. Finally, Figure 5.9 assesses the cost-effectiveness of the AOT40 scenario, using the cumulative vegetation exposure index.

Country	NO _x emissio	ons (kilotons)	Change con	npared to 1990
	CRP*	CRP + 10%	CRP*	CRP + 10%
		D7		D7
Albania	30	30	25%	25%
Austria	155	145	-36%	-40%
Belarus	315	248	-22%	-38%
Belgium	222	222	-39%	-39%
Bosnia-H	61	61	-24%	-24%
Bulgaria	290	278	-18%	-21%
Croatia	83	83	0%	0%
Czech R.	305	239	-42%	-54%
Denmark	134	134	-51%	-51%
Estonia	72	72	-14%	-14%
Finland	203	177	-27%	-37%
France	791	652	-51%	-60%
Germany	1819	1819	-39%	-39%
Greece	365	365	-7%	-7%
Hungary	196	196	-8%	-8%
Ireland	69	69	-36%	-36%
Italy	1260	1260	-37%	-37%
Latvia	115	115	1%	1%
Lithuania	137	129	-9%	-15%
Luxembourg	12	12	-43%	-43%
Netherlands	270	270	-50%	-50%
Norway	161	161	-30%	-30%
Poland	1004	1004	-17%	-17%
Portugal	190	125	-9%	-40%
R. of Moldova	63	63	-28%	-28%
Romania	453	395	-12%	-23%
Russia	2642	2504	-24%	-28%
Slovakia	134	134	-35%	-35%
Slovenia	31	31	-48%	-48%
Spain	844	743	-28%	-37%
Sweden	247	247	-28%	-28%
Switzerland	100	84	-38%	-48%
FYRMacedonia	29	29	-26%	-26%
Ukraine	1094	1028	-42%	-46%
United Kingdom	1186	1186	-55%	-55%
F.Yugoslavia	147	147	-30%	-30%
Atlantic Ocean	911	911	0%	0%
Baltic Sea	80	80	0%	0%
North Sea	639	639	0%	0%
Total	16859	16087	-32%	-36%

Table 5.2: NO_x emissions for the AOT40 gap closure scenario

Country	VOC emissi	ions (kilotons)	Change com	npared to 1990
	CRP*	CRP + 10%	CRP*	CRP + 10%
		D7		D7
Albania	40	37	37%	26%
Austria	305	305	-27%	-27%
Belarus	321	303	-5%	-10%
Belgium	220	138	-35%	-59%
Bosnia-H	58	58	29%	29%
Bulgaria	152	152	-21%	-21%
Croatia	80	80	-9%	-9%
Czech R.	205	164	-27%	-42%
Denmark	108	108	-38%	-38%
Estonia	55	55	14%	14%
Finland	108	108	-44%	-44%
France	1665	902	-30%	-62%
Germany	1616	1192	-48%	-62%
Greece	205	180	-31%	-39%
Hungary	143	142	-17%	-18%
Ireland	57	57	-40%	-40%
Italy	1365	749	-26%	-60%
Latvia	68	68	12%	12%
Lithuania	76	72	-13%	-18%
Luxembourg	9	9	-51%	-51%
Netherlands	258	175	-45%	-62%
Norway	168	168	-37%	-37%
Poland	687	558	0%	-19%
Portugal	144	115	-27%	-42%
R. of Moldova	60	60	-14%	-14%
Romania	553	483	-5%	-17%
Russia	2839	2676	-15%	-20%
Slovakia	113	113	-22%	-22%
Slovenia	25	25	-47%	-47%
Spain	794	648	-23%	-37%
Sweden	287	287	-36%	-36%
Switzerland	170	86	-42%	-71%
FYRMacedonia	15	15	8%	8%
Ukraine	671	671	-37%	-37%
United Kingdom	1276	1175	-53%	-56%
F.Yugoslavia	106	106	10%	10%
Total	15022	12240	-31%	-44%

Table 5.3: VOC emissions for the AOT40 gap closure scenario

~		
Country	Total costs	Additional costs on
		top of CRP*
	CRP*	CRP + 10%
		D7
Albania	14	0
Austria	844	3
Belarus	30	33
Belgium	1094	53
Bosnia-H	3	0
Bulgaria	142	4
Croatia	52	0
Czech R.	623	29
Denmark	449	0
Estonia	1	0
Finland	685	7
France	5908	674
Germany	8841	334
Greece	832	10
Hungary	479	0
Ireland	471	ů 0
Italy	6206	683
Latvia	0	0
Lithuania	0 0	3
Luxembourg	72	0
Netherlands	2137	91
Norway	471	0
Poland	1820	26
Portugal	949	173
R. of Moldova	12	0
Romania	140	18
Russia	923	56
Slovakia	348	0
Slovenia	132	0
Spain	3538	113
Sweden	1129	0
Switzerland	605	118
FYRMacedonia	0	0
Ukraine	1144	107
United Kingdom	5721	182
F Yugoslavia	0	0
1.1 450514114	U	0
Atlantic Ocean	231	0
Raltic Sea	251	0
North Sea	159	0
	137	U
Total	46232	2717

Table 5.4: Emission control costs for the AOT40 scenario (million ECU/year)



Figure 5.8: Change in NOx and VOC emissions beyond the CRP* scenario for the D7 AOT40-related gap closure scenario



Figure 5.9: Cost-effectiveness of the AOT40-related gap closure scenario

Country	Cum	ulative vege	etation	Average	vegetation	exposure
2	ez	posure ind	ex	Ũ	index	1
	(millio	on hectares.	.excess	(exce	ess ppm.ho	ours)
		ppm.hours))	, ,	11	,
	CRP*	D7	MFR	CRP*	D7	MFR
Albania	7	5	3	3.9	2.8	1.5
Austria	36	26	14	7.0	5.0	2.7
Belarus	11	5	1	1.3	0.6	0.1
Belgium	16	12	10	10.3	7.5	6.2
Bosnia-H	21	15	9	5.4	3.9	2.3
Bulgaria	31	24	14	4.1	3.3	1.9
Croatia	28	22	14	7.9	6.1	3.9
Czech R.	43	29	14	7.7	5.2	2.6
Denmark	9	5	1	3.1	1.8	0.3
Estonia	0	0	0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Finland	0	0	0	0.0	0.0	0.0
France	315	191	133	9.8	5.9	4.1
Germany	174	114	65	8.2	5.4	3.0
Greece	21	15	8	3.8	2.8	1.4
Hungary	51	37	20	7.9	5.8	3.1
Ireland	1	0	0	0.6	0.2	0.0
Italy	136	105	73	8.7	6.6	4.7
Latvia	2	1	0	0.4	0.1	0.0
Lithuania	5	2	0	1.2	0.5	0.0
Luxembourg	2	1	1	12.3	8.0	5.4
Netherlands	9	6	5	7.0	4.9	4.0
Norway	0	0	0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Poland	123	75	26	5.4	3.3	1.2
Portugal	30	23	16	5.2	3.9	2.8
R. of Moldova	6	5	2	3.8	2.7	1.3
Romania	73	53	28	4.7	3.4	1.8
Russia	87	68	30	0.5	0.4	0.2
Slovakia	28	19	10	7.7	5.4	2.7
Slovenia	11	9	6	8.5	6.6	4.4
Spain	151	106	56	4.9	3.4	1.8
Sweden	6	2	0	0.2	0.1	0.0
Switzerland	11	7	5	6.2	4.0	2.7
FYRMacedonia	5	4	2	3.0	2.3	1.2
Ukraine	125	93	48	3.2	2.4	1.2
United Kingdom	23	16	11	2.7	1.9	1.3
F.Yugoslavia	29	22	13	4.3	3.2	1.8
Total	1626	1117	638	3.1	2.1	1.2

Table 5.5: Vegetation exposure indices for the optimized AOT40 scenario

6 Considering AOT40 and AOT60 Simultaneously

The preceding two sections explored strategies for reducing the risk for human health and vegetation separately. In the real world, however, the task is to find one single emission control strategy complying with both types of environmental targets.

Recent progress in ozone optimization modelling at IIASA makes it now possible to consider human health- and vegetation-related targets simultaneously. In practice, the optimization problem looks for the least-cost combination of measures to satisfy simultaneously constraints on the composite AOT60 (ignoring the most unfavorable year) and on the AOT40.

This section presents the results from an optimization scenario, D8, which combines the composite 50% gap closure optimization for the AOT60 (Scenario D6) with the 10 percent (minimum) increase of the gap closure for the AOT40 (Scenario D7).

Table 6.1 to Table 6.3 present the results in terms of NO_x and VOC emissions and emission control costs. When combining the targets of two different environmental problems without having an optimization facility available, one would need to combine the lowest emissions of the two individual problems, or in other words, the lower envelope of the emissions for the two problems. As can be seen from the tables, however, the optimization identifies the potential for synergistic emission reductions serving both environmental problems optimally, and thereby relaxes the most stringent and expensive reduction requirements in many situations. For Europe as a whole, the combined optimization leads to 12% less NO_x reductions and 3% less VOC reduction, with a cost saving of about 8%.Figure 6.1 shows the binding grids for the joint optimization of Scenario D8. It is interesting to note that the AOT60 targets serve as the driving force in the UK, Portugal, and F. Yugoslavia, while in Italy, Greece and Ukraine the AOT40 targets are more stringent.

The NO_x and VOC emission reductions required in individual countries are displayed in Figure 6.2 and Figure 6.3, which indicate that for most countries the combined optimization ends with slightly less ambitious emission reductions than the individually most stringent optimization result.

X			1							
{		Ž	D _x emissions (kt)				Chang	ge compared to 199		
Country	CRP*	AOT60 D6	AOT40 D7	minimum D6 and D7	joint D8	CRP*	AOT60 D6	AOT40 D7	maximum D6 and D7	joint D8
Albania	30	30	30	30	30	25%	25%	25%	25%	25%
Austria	155	155	145	145	146	-36%	-36%	-40%	-40%	-40%
Belarus	315	277	248	248	252	-22%	-31%	-38%	-38%	-37%
Belgium	222	222	222	222	222	-39%	-39%	-39%	-39%	-39%
Bosnia-H	61	61	61	19	61	-24%	-24%	-24%	-24%	-24%
Bulgaria	290	290	278	278	284	-18%	-18%	-21%	-21%	-20%
Croatia	83	83	83	83	83	0%	0%	0%0	0%0	%0
Czech R.	305	305	239	239	249	-42%	-42%	-54%	-54%	-52%
Denmark	134	134	134	134	134	-51%	-51%	-51%	-51%	-51%
Estonia	72	72	72	72	72	-14%	-14%	-14%	-14%	-14%
Finland	203	203	177	177	183	-27%	-27%	-37%	-37%	-34%
France	791	775	652	652	673	-51%	-52%	-60%	-60%	-58%
Germany	1819	1819	1819	1819	1819	-39%	-39%	-39%	-39%	-39%
Greece	365	365	365	365	365	-7%	-7%	-7%	-7%	-7%
Hungary	196	195	196	195	196	-8%	-9%	-8%	-9%	-8%
Ireland	69	69	69	69	69	-36%	-36%	-36%	-36%	-36%
Italy	1260	1260	1260	1260	1260	-37%	-37%	-37%	-37%	-37%
Latvia	115	115	115	115	115	1%	1%	1%	1%	1%
Lithuania	137	137	129	129	126	-9%	-9%	-15%	-15%	-17%
Luxembourg	12	12	12	12	12	-43%	-43%	-43%	-43%	-43%
Netherlands	270	270	270	270	270	-50%	-50%	-50%	-50%	-50%
Norway	161	161	161	161	161	-30%	-30%	-30%	-30%	-30%
Poland	1004	995	1004	995	1004	-17%	-18%	-17%	-18%	-17%
Portugal	190	120	125	120	120	-9%	-42%	-40%	-42%	-42%
R. of Moldova	63	63	63	63	63	-28%	-28%	-28%	-28%	-28%
Romania	453	401	395	395	392	-12%	-22%	-23%	-23%	-24%
Russia	2642	2642	2504	2504	2503	-24%	-24%	-28%	-28%	-28%
Slovakia	134	127	134	127	132	-35%	-39%	-35%	-39%	-36%
Slovenia	31	31	31	31	31	-48%	-48%	-48%	-48%	-48%
Spain	844	722	743	722	748	-28%	-39%	-37%	-39%	-36%
Sweden	247	247	247	247	247	-28%	-28%	-28%	-28%	-28%
Switzerland	100	100	84	84	85	-38%	-38%	-48%	-48%	-47%
FYRMacedonia	29	29	29	29	29	-26%	-26%	-26%	-26%	-26%
Ukraine	1094	1081	1028	1028	1038	-42%	-43%	-46%	-46%	-45%
United Kingdom	1186	1186	1186	1186	1186	-55%	-55%	-55%	-55%	-55%
F.Yugoslavia	147	118	147	118	128	-30%	-44%	-30%	-44%	-39%
Atlantic Ocean	911	911	911	116	911	%0	0%	0%	0%0	%0
Baltic Sea	80	80	80	80	80	0%	0%	%0	0%0	%0
North Sea	639	639	639	639	639	%0	%0	0%0	0%0	0%0
	0									
Tota	16859	16502	16087	61091	16118	-32%	-34%	-36%	-30%	-35%

Table 6.1: NO_x emissions for the ozone-related optimization scenarios

		ON	(Juliacione (J.t)				Chone	1000 to 1000		
Country		AOT60	AOT40	minim	ioint		AOT60	AOT40	maximum	ioint
	CRP*	D6	D7	D6 and $D7$	D8	CRP*	D6	D7	D6 and D7	D8
Albania	40	40	37	37	37	37%	37%	26%	26%	26%
Austria	305	305	305	305	305	-27%	-27%	-27%	-27%	-27%
Belarus	321	320	303	303	307	-5%	-5%	-10%	-10%	-9%
Belgium	220	123	138	123	125	-35%	-64%	-59%	-64%	-63%
Bosnia-H	58	58	58	58	58	29%	29%	29%	29%	29%
Bulgaria	152	152	152	152	152	-21%	-21%	-21%	-21%	-21%
Croatia	80	80	80	80	80	-9%	-9%	-9%	-9%	-9%
Czech R.	205	162	164	162	165	-27%	-42%	-42%	-42%	-41%
Denmark	108	108	108	108	108	-38%	-38%	-38%	-38%	-38%
Estonia	55	55	55	55	55	14%	14%	14%	14%	14%
Finland	108	108	108	108	108	-44%	-44%	-44%	-44%	-44%
France	1665	1253	902	902	926	-30%	-48%	-62%	-62%	-61%
Germany	1616	1100	1192	1100	1086	-48%	-65%	-62%	-65%	-65%
Greece	205	195	180	180	179	-31%	-34%	-39%	-39%	-39%
Hungary	143	124	142	124	135	-17%	-28%	-18%	-28%	-22%
Ireland	57	57	57	57	57	-40%	-40%	-40%	-40%	-40%
Italy	1365	1165	749	749	773	-26%	-37%	-60%	-60%	-58%
Latvia	68	68	68	68	68	12%	12%	12%	12%	12%
Lithuania	76	76	72	72	68	-13%	-13%	-18%	-18%	-22%
Luxembourg	6	6	6	9	6	-51%	-51%	-51%	-51%	-51%
Netherlands	258	151	175	151	154	-45%	-68%	-62%	-68%	-67%
Norway	168	168	168	168	168	-37%	-37%	-37%	-37%	-37%
Poland	687	551	558	551	561	%0	-20%	-19%	-20%	-18%
Portugal	144	100	115	100	104	-27%	-49%	-42%	-49%	-47%
R. of Moldova	60	60	09	60	60	-14%	-14%	-14%	-14%	-14%
Romania	553	490	483	483	479	-5%	-16%	-17%	-17%	-17%
Russia	2839	2802	2676	2676	2691	-15%	-16%	-20%	-20%	-19%
Slovakia	113	100	113	100	106	-22%	-31%	-22%	-31%	-26%
Slovenia	25	25	25	25	25	-47%	-47%	-47%	-47%	-47%
Spain	794	569	648	569	560	-23%	-45%	-37%	-45%	-46%
Sweden	287	287	287	287	287	-36%	-36%	-36%	-36%	-36%
Switzerland	170	170	86	86	90	-42%	-42%	-71%	-71%	-69%
FYRMacedonia	15	15	15	15	15	8%	8%	8%	8%	8%
Ukraine	671	671	671	671	671	-37%	-37%	-37%	-37%	-37%
United Kingdom	1276	826	1175	826	844	-53%	-69%	-56%	-69%	-69%
F.Yugoslavia	106	106	106	106	106	10%	10%	10%	10%	10%
Total	15022	12649	12.2.40	11626	11722	-31%	-42%	-44%	-46%	-46%

Table 6.2: VOC emissions for the ozone-related optimization scenarios

Country	Total costs		Additional costs	on top of CRP*	
-	CRP*	AOT60	AOT40	maximum	joint
		D6	D7	D6 and D7	D8
Albania	14	0	0	0	0
Austria	844	0	3	3	2
Belarus	30	7	33	33	27
Belgium	1094	90	53	90	83
Bosnia-H	3	0	0	0	0
Bulgaria	142	0	4	4	2
Croatia	52	0	0	0	0
Czech R.	623	11	29	29	23
Denmark	449	0	0	0	0
Estonia	1	0	0	0	0
Finland	685	0	7	7	5
France	5908	249	674	674	607
Germany	8841	489	334	489	520
Greece	832	3	10	10	11
Hungary	479	6	0	6	1
Ireland	471	0	0	0	0
Italy	6206	39	683	<i>683</i>	608
Latvia	0	0	0	0	0
Lithuania	0	0	3	3	5
Luxembourg	72	0	0	0	0
Netherlands	2137	157	91	157	147
Norway	471	0	0	0	0
Poland	1820	32	26	32	24
Portugal	949	315	173	315	279
R. of Moldova	12	0	0	0	0
Romania	140	14	18	18	21
Russia	923	0	56	56	54
Slovakia	348	2	0	2	0
Slovenia	132	0	0	0	0
Spain	3538	186	113	186	179
Sweden	1129	0	0	0	0
Switzerland	605	0	118	118	104
FYRMacedonia	0	0	0	0	0
Ukraine	1144	19	107	107	88
United Kingdom	5721	1500	182	1500	1374
F.Yugoslavia	0	41	0	41	17
Atlantic Ocean	231	0	0	0	0
Baltic Sea	26	0	0	0	0
North Sea	159	0	0	0	0
Total	46232	3160	2717	4563	4181

Table 6.3: Emission control costs for the ozone-related optimization scenarios, in million ECU/year



Figure 6.1: Binding grids for the Scenario D8. The map indicates where after optimization the ozone levels are at or are very close to the specified targets. The map distinguishes grids where the AOT40 is binding (indicated by 'aot40') or almost binding ['(aot40)'], and where the AOT60 is binding ['aot60'] or almost binding ['(aot60)'].



Figure 6.2: Change in NO_x emissions for the ozone-related optimization scenarios



Figure 6.3: Change in VOC emissions for the ozone-optimized scenarios

7 Acidification

 NO_x emissions are not only an important precursor substance for ground-level ozone, but they also make a major contribution to the acidification and eutrophication of ecosystems. It has been found in earlier work that the targeted control of NO_x emissions is an important element for the cost-effective reduction of acidification. The question arises how NO_x abatement schedules developed for acidification strategies interact with the interests of controlling ground-level ozone. A potential conflict has been identified in the earlier sections of this report for regions with high NO_x concentrations, where the ozone formation clearly shows non-linear behavior and the ozone-focused optimization tends to keep NO_x emissions as high as possible.

As a further advancement, a new feature of the RAINS ozone optimization is capable of simultaneously considering (linear) constraints on acid deposition in order to take the environmental targets of an acidification-oriented strategy into account. This new feature will be used in this section to attempt an analysis of the possible interaction of acidification and ozone-related strategies.

It is not the subject of this report to explore acidification-related scenarios in great detail. Consequently, the analysis presented here is restricted to one, illustrative 50% gap closure scenario for acidification (Scenario D9)

7.1 A 50% Gap Closure Scenario for Acidification (Scenario D9)

In order to examine the interaction of acidification and ozone strategies, a practical, basic acidification scenario has been constructed, in which the target is to reduce the area of unprotected ecosystems within each receptor grid by 50%. A brief outline of the scenario details follows:

- A 50% (area-related) gap closure for acidification to be achieved for each grid;
- Ships on the North Sea, the Baltic Sea and parts of the Atlantic Ocean use fuel oil with a maximum sulfur content of 1.5 percent;
- Shipping emissions are kept fixed at their CRP* values;
- Grid 14/13 in Ireland, where the 50% gap closure is impossible to achieve with the latest critical loads data, is excluded from the optimization. It has been agreed with Ireland to make further checks on the assumptions underlying the critical loads and emission estimates and to return to the problem at a later date;
- Grid 17/27 in northern Sweden has been excluded from the optimization since an error in the critical loads database was discovered;
- Grid 17/19 in southern Norway, where the 50% gap closure target is impossible to achieve, is excluded from the optimization.

It must be stressed that the assumptions made above still need careful review and further analysis. Consequently, the resulting Scenario D9 should be considered as illustrative only, mainly useful for exploring the interaction of ozone and acidification strategies.

The resulting emissions and costs for Scenario D9 are listed in Table 7.1 to Table 7.6.

The binding grid cells for Scenario D9, shown in Figure 7.1, include grid 20/17 in Germany/Netherlands. In previous studies this grid proved to be difficult and expensive to protect, i.e., this grid was the most 'binding'. It should be noted that the critical loads data for this area are well-checked and robust, and that the optimization is not driven by a marginal ecosystem. The target ecosystem for the 50% gap closure approach in this grid is the 44th percentile; which means that even after successful gap closure, 43% of the ecosystems in this grid would face deposition above their critical loads. Neighboring grids show similar sensitivities and become immediately binding if grid 20/17 is excluded from the optimization.



Figure 7.1: Binding grid cells for Scenario D9. The map indicates where after optimization acid deposition is at (indicated by 'acid') or closely below (indicated by '(acid)') the specified target. Note, however, that three grids where the 50% gap closure target is not achievable have been excluded from the optimization.

7.2 Joint Optimization for Acidification, AOT40 and AOT60 (Scenario D10)

At the end of this report, Scenario D10 explores the interaction of ozone- and acidificationrelated strategies. The joint analysis looks for a single solution for the combination of the following environmental targets:

- A 50% gap closure of AOT60, using the composite method to incorporate the meteorological variations of five years. For each grid cell the year with the lowest possible gap closure is excluded from the optimization, i.e., the 50% gap closure target must be achieved in four out of five years (Scenario D6);
- A minimum 10% improvement of the gap closure achieved by the CRP* scenario for the AOT40, with a minimum 15% gap closure compared to 1990 (Scenario D7);
- A 50% gap closure for acidification; however, the targets for three grids have been excluded for the reasons given above (Scenario D9).

The binding grids for the joint ozone-acidification scenario are shown in Figure 7.2. To a large extent, the grids that have most influence on the joint optimization solution are found in the same areas as for the individual problems. Binding grids for AOT60 are located in the UK, Portugal and Yugoslavia, with AOT40 binding grids being found in the Netherlands/Belgium/Germany, Italy, Greece and Ukraine. Acidification-related targets are seen to be most demanding in Northern Germany, Ireland and eastern Hungary.



Figure 7.2: Binding grid cells for the combined ozone/acidification scenario D10. The map indicates where after optimization the exposures of AOT40, AOT60 and acidification, respectively, are at or slightly below (indicated with brackets) the targets.

The following tables (Table 7.1 to Table 7.6) provide the detailed results for the joint optimization and compare them with the optimization outcomes for the three environmental problems treated separately. As to be expected from theory, the joint optimization is cheaper than the upper envelope of the individual problems. In this example it is found, however, that the cost saving is not dramatic (3%) and that relaxation of the most stringent reduction requirements is limited, although for individual countries the differences might be significant (Figure 7.3 and Figure 7.4). Further analysis will be necessary to study this effect in more detail (and particularly to identify the relation between the potential cost savings and the stringency of the environmental targets). Some preliminary explanations can be put forward:

- By their nature, acidification and ozone are not strongly interrelated problems.
- In terms of emission reductions, acidification could trade additional NO_x reductions against less SO_2 and/or NH_3 measures (or vice versa), and ozone (in the 'linear' region) could trade additional NO_x reductions against lower demand on VOC measures. This means that one unit of NO_x reduction must be balanced against SO_2 , and NH_3 and VOC reductions. Major rearrangements would prove cost-efficient only if there were significant differences in marginal costs. After the optimizations for the individual problems (with sufficiently stringent environmental targets) such big differences are, however, already eliminated to a large extent.

In the 'non-linear' ozone region (particularly in the UK) there is the interesting effect that for the ozone objective the NO_x emissions are kept high. Ecosystems sensitive towards acidification, however, require large NO_x reductions, in clear contrast to the ozone objective. The joint optimization could (a) keep NO_x high and compensate the excess acidity by additional measures for SO₂ and NH₂ emissions; or (b) reduce NO₂ emissions as far as necessary to achieve the acidification targets, and compensate the additional ozone formation from these lower NO_x emissions by further VOC reductions. At least for this example the optimization tends more towards the second option. This can be explained by the facts that (a) the strong NO_x reductions required for acidification move the ozone system closer to the 'linear' behavior, where only modest additional VOC reductions are required to compensate for the ozone increase, (b) the high NO_x reductions are expensive (if not impossible) to compensate for by further SO₂ and NH₃ reductions, particularly since the binding grid for the acidification problem is located in Ireland, where the UK NH₃ emissions make only little contribution, and (c) the NO₂ reductions also have a positive effect for downwind sites on the continent and relax the most expensive measures required there. For this particular example, the benefits to be gained downwind for the ozone abatement lead to slightly greater NO₂ and VOC reductions than would result from the acidification interest alone.

Table 7.7 compares the areas of unprotected ecosystems in each country resulting from the acidification-related scenarios D9 and D10 with the situation in 1990 and with the CRP* and MFR scenarios. Considering all of Europe, the current emission reduction plans would be expected to reduce the total unprotected ecosystem area by 54%, with substantially better improvements in Latvia, Lithuania, Belarus, France and Denmark. On the basis of the current data sets, the maximum feasible reductions would protect 96% of the total European ecosystem area unprotected in 1990.

In terms of the improvements in unprotected ecosystem area, there is very little difference between the acidification scenario D9 and the joint scenario D10. Both scenarios would expect to achieve an 81% reduction in the total European unprotected area compared to the CRP* scenario. Norway (52% improvement over CRP*) and Ireland (53% improvement) would fare worse than the average in this regard.

Table 7.1: N	NO _x emissic	ons for the se	cenarios ta	rgeted at aci	dification a	nd ground-	level ozon	0				
Country		AOT60	NO _x emission	s (kilotons) Acidification	minim	icint		A OT60	Change comp	ared to 1990 Acidification	เล่าสาราช	ioint
Country	CRP*	D6	D7 D7	D9	D6, D7, D9	D10	CRP*	D6	D7 D7	D9	D6, D7, D9	D10
Albania	30	30	30	30	30	30	25%	25%	25%	25%	25%	25%
Austria	155	155	145	122	122	118	-36%	-36%	-40%	-50%	-50%	-51%
Belarus	315	277	248	297	248	261	-22%	-31%	-38%	-26%	-38%	-35%
Belgium	222	222	222	109	109	109	-39%	-39%	-39%	-70%	-70%	-70%
Bosnia-H	61	61	61	57	57	57	-24%	-24%	-24%	-29%	-29%	-29%
Bulgaria	290	290	278	290	278	284	-18%	-18%	-21%	-18%	-21%	-20%
Croatia	83	83	83	83	83	83	%0	%0	%0	%0	0%0	%0
Czech R.	305	305	239	150	150	149	-42%	-42%	-54%	-71%	-71%	-71%
Denmark	134	134	134	88	88	88	-51%	-51%	-51%	-68%	-68%	-68%
Estonia	72	72	72	72	72	72	-14%	-14%	-14%	-14%	-14%	-14%
Finland	203	203	177	203	177	190	-27%	-27%	-37%	-27%	-37%	-32%
France	791	775	652	580	580	571	-51%	-52%	-60%	-64%	-64%	-65%
Germany	1819	1819	1819	679	626	679	-39%	-39%	-39%	-67%	-67%	-67%
Greece	365	365	365	365	365	365	-7%	-7%	-7%	-7%	-7%	-7%
Hungary	196	195	196	161	161	161	-8%	-9%	-8%	-25%	-25%	-25%
Ireland	69	69	69	30	30	30	-36%	-36%	-36%	-72%	-72%	-72%
Italy	1260	1260	1260	1084	1084	1260	-37%	-37%	-37%	-46%	-46%	-37%
Latvia	115	115	115	115	115	115	1%	1%	1%	1%	1%	1%
Lithuania	137	137	129	126	126	123	-9%	~6-	-15%	-17%	-17%	-19%
Luxembourg	12	12	12	8	8	8	-43%	-43%	-43%	-62%	-62%	-62%
Netherlands	270	270	270	190	061	190	-50%	-50%	-50%	-65%	-65%	-65%
Norway	161	161	161	161	161	161	-30%	-30%	-30%	-30%	-30%	-30%
Poland	1004	995	1004	582	582	576	-17%	-18%	-17%	-52%	-52%	-52%
Portugal	190	120	125	190	120	121	-9%	-42%	-40%	-9%	-42%	-42%
R. of Moldova	63	63	63	63	63	63	-28%	-28%	-28%	-28%	-28%	-28%
Romania	453	401	395	373	373	365	-12%	-22%	-23%	-27%	-27%	-29%
Russia	2642	2642	2504	2642	2504	2530	-24%	-24%	-28%	-24%	-28%	-27%
Slovakia	134	127	134	102	102	101	-35%	-39%	-35%	-51%	-51%	-51%
Slovenia	31	31	31	31	31	31	-48%	-48%	-48%	-48%	-48%	-48%
Spain	844	722	743	673	673	629	-28%	-39%	-37%	-43%	-43%	-47%
Sweden	247	247	247	192	192	191	-28%	-28%	-28%	-44%	-44%	-45%
Switzerland	100	100	84	89	84	83	-38%	-38%	-48%	-45%	-48%	-48%
FYRMacedonia	29	29	29	29	29	29	-26%	-26%	-26%	-26%	-26%	-26%
Ukraine	1094	1081	1028	1094	1028	1076	-42%	-43%	-46%	-42%	-46%	-43%
United Kingdom	1186	1186	1186	740	740	740	-55%	-55%	-55%	-72%	-72%	-72%
F.Yugoslavia	147	118	147	141	118	141	-30%	-44%	-30%	-33%	-44%	-33%
Atlantic Ocean	911	911	911	911	116	911	%0	%0	0%	%0	%0	0%
Baltic Sea	80	80	80	80	80	80	%0	%0	%0	%0	0%	%0
North Sea	639	639	639	639	639	639	%0	0%	%0	%0	0%0	%0
Total	16859	16502	16087	13871	13482	13710	-32%	-34%	-36%	-44%	-46%	-45%

acidification and ground-level ozone
l at
targeteo
scenarios
· the
for
ions
emiss
ОС
Ň
7.2
Table

						ľ						
			VOC emission	ns (kilotons)					Change comp	bared to 1990		
Country	-	AOT60	AOT40	Acidification	minimum	joint	-	AOT60	AOT40	Acidification	maximum	joint
	CRP*	D6	D7	D9	D6, D7, D9	D10	CRP*	D6	D7	D9	D6, D7, D9	D10
Albania	40	40	37	40	37	38	37%	37%	26%	37%	26%	30%
Austria	305	305	305	305	305	305	-27%	-27%	-27%	-27%	-27%	-27%
Belarus	321	320	303	321	303	318	-5%	-5%	-10%	-5%	-10%	-5%
Belgium	220	123	138	220	123	129	-35%	-64%	-59%	-35%	-64%	-62%
Bosnia-H	58	58	58	58	58	58	29%	29%	29%	29%	29%	29%
Bulgaria	152	152	152	152	152	152	-21%	-21%	-21%	-21%	-21%	-21%
Croatia	80	80	80	80	80	80	-9%	-9%	-9%	-9%	-9%	-9%
Czech R.	205	162	164	205	162	172	-27%	-42%	-42%	-27%	-42%	-39%
Denmark	108	108	108	108	108	108	-38%	-38%	-38%	-38%	-38%	-38%
Estonia	55	55	55	55	55	55	14%	14%	14%	14%	14%	14%
Finland	108	108	108	108	108	108	-44%	-44%	-44%	-44%	-44%	-44%
France	1665	1253	902	1665	902	978	-30%	-48%	-62%	-30%	-62%	-59%
Germany	1616	1100	1192	1616	0011	1099	-48%	-65%	-62%	-48%	-65%	-65%
Greece	205	195	180	205	180	190	-31%	-34%	-39%	-31%	-39%	-36%
Hungary	143	124	142	143	124	142	-17%	-28%	-18%	-17%	-28%	-18%
Ireland	57	57	57	57	57	57	-40%	-40%	-40%	-40%	-40%	-40%
Italy	1365	1165	749	1365	749	814	-26%	-37%	-60%	-26%	-60%	-56%
Latvia	68	68	68	68	68	68	12%	12%	12%	12%	12%	12%
Lithuania	76	76	72	76	72	71	-13%	-13%	-18%	-13%	-18%	-19%
Luxembourg	6	6	6	6	9	6	-51%	-51%	-51%	-51%	-51%	-51%
Netherlands	258	151	175	258	151	162	-45%	-68%	-62%	-45%	-68%	-65%
Norway	168	168	168	168	168	168	-37%	-37%	-37%	-37%	-37%	-37%
Poland	687	551	558	687	551	579	%0	-20%	-19%	%0	-20%	-16%
Portugal	144	100	115	144	100	109	-27%	-49%	-42%	-27%	-49%	-45%
R. of Moldova	60	60	60	60	60	60	-14%	-14%	-14%	-14%	-14%	-14%
Romania	553	490	483	553	483	511	-5%	-16%	-17%	-5%	-17%	-12%
Russia	2839	2802	2676	2839	2676	2739	-15%	-16%	-20%	-15%	-20%	-18%
Slovakia	113	100	113	113	100	113	-22%	-31%	-22%	-22%	-31%	-22%
Slovenia	25	25	25	25	25	25	-47%	-47%	-47%	-47%	-47%	-47%
Spain	794	569	648	794	569	600	-23%	-45%	-37%	-23%	-45%	-42%
Sweden	287	287	287	287	287	287	-36%	-36%	-36%	-36%	-36%	-36%
Switzerland	170	170	86	170	86	95	-42%	-42%	-71%	-42%	-71%	-68%
FYRMacedonia	15	15	15	15	15	15	8%	8%	8%	8%	8%	8%
Ukraine	671	671	671	671	671	671	-37%	-37%	-37%	-37%	-37%	-37%
United Kingdom	1276	826	1175	1276	826	809	-53%	-69%	-56%	-53%	-69%	-70%
F.Yugoslavia	106	106	106	106	106	106	10%	10%	10%	10%	10%	10%
Total	15022	17649	12240	15022	11626	12000	-31%	-47%	-44%	-31%	-46%	-45%

Table 7.3: 5	SO ₂ emission	ons for the s	scenarios te	argeted at ac	idification a	nd ground	-level ozon	e			
			SO ₂ emission	ns (kilotons)					Change comp	ared to 1990	
Country		AOT60	AOT40	Acidification	minimum	joint		AOT60	AOT40	Acidification	maximum
	CRP*	D6	D7	D9	D6, D7, D9	D10	CRP*	D6	D7	D9	D6, D7, D9
Albania	52	52	52	52	52	52	-28%	-28%	-28%	-28%	-28%
Austria	78	78	78	50	50	50	-16%	-16%	-16%	-46%	-46%
Belarus	399	399	399	139	139	141	-53%	-53%	-53%	-84%	-84%

	Ð	Ì
	ē	ļ
	Ξ	
	2	
		l
	C)
	-	
	•	
	ē	
	>	•
	(D	
	-	
	н	
	C	
	ĭ	
	È	
	\square	ĺ
	C)
	Ξ	
	Б	i
	~	
-	~	
	\leq	
	P	į
	3	i
	2	ì
	\simeq	
۰.	₽	i
	5	i
	2	
	Ľ	í
ۆ	F	ì
•	-	į
	C	
•	Ξ	i
	$\dot{\mathbf{U}}$	į
	ž	
	•••	
	+	
	3	ļ
	_	
	Ű	Ì
	0	
	tec	
	etec	
	retec	
-	petec	
	rpetec	
	argetec	
	targetec	
	s targeted	
	os targetec	
	IOS targeted	
•	rios targetec	
•	arios targetec	
•	narios targetec	
•	marios targetec	
•	enarios targetec	
•	cenarios targetec	
•	scenarios targetec	
•	Scenarios targetec	
•	e scenarios targetec	
•	he scenarios targeted	
•	the scenarios targeted	
•	the scenarios targeted	
•	r the scenarios targeted	
•	or the scenarios targeted	
•	tor the scenarios targeted	
•	tor the scenarios targeted	
	is for the scenarios targeted	
	ns for the scenarios targeted	
	ons for the scenarios targeted	
•	ions for the scenarios targeted	
	sions for the scenarios targeted	
•	ssions for the scenarios targeted	
•	issions for the scenarios targeted	
	dissions for the scenarios targeted	
	missions for the scenarios targeted	
	emissions for the scenarios targeted	
	emissions for the scenarios targeted	
	emissions for the scenarios targeted	
•) emissions for the scenarios targeted	
· ·	() emissions for the scenarios targeted	
	S() emissions for the scenarios targeted	
•	SU: emissions for the scenarios targeted	
· · ·	: SU, emissions for the scenarios targeted	
	3: SU: emissions for the scenarios targeted	
	3: SU, emissions for the scenarios targeted	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	(.3: SU) emissions for the scenarios targeted	

			SO ₂ emission	s (kilotons)					Change comp	bared to 1990		
Country	-	AOT60	AOT40	Acidification	minimum	joint		AOT60	AOT40	Acidification	maximum	joint
	CRP*	D6	D7	D9	D6, D7, D9	D10	CRP*	D6	D7	D9	D6, D7, D9	D10
Albania	52	52	52	52	52	52	-28%	-28%	-28%	-28%	-28%	-28%
Austria	78	78	78	50	50	50	-16%	-16%	-16%	-46%	-46%	-46%
Belarus	399	399	399	139	139	141	-53%	-53%	-53%	-84%	-84%	-83%
Belgium	215	215	215	49	49	49	-32%	-32%	-32%	-85%	-85%	-85%
Bosnia-H	395	395	395	33	33	33	-18%	-18%	-18%	-93%	-93%	-93%
Bulgaria	1127	1127	1127	276	276	271	-39%	-39%	-39%	-85%	-85%	-85%
Croatia	117	117	117	18	18	18	-34%	-34%	-34%	%06-	-90%	%06-
Czech R.	632	632	632	76	97	97	-66%	-66%	-66%	-95%	-95%	-95%
Denmark	90	06	90	19	19	19	-53%	-53%	-53%	%06-	%06-	%06-
Estonia	175	175	175	175	175	175	-36%	-36%	-36%	-36%	-36%	-36%
Finland	116	116	116	116	116	116	-51%	-51%	-51%	-51%	-51%	-51%
France	737	737	737	221	221	221	-43%	-43%	-43%	-83%	-83%	-83%
Germany	740	740	740	336	336	337	-86%	-86%	-86%	-94%	-94%	-94%
Greece	570	570	570	570	570	570	12%	12%	12%	12%	12%	12%
Hungary	653	653	653	285	285	285	-28%	-28%	-28%	-69%	-69%	-69%
Ireland	155	155	155	31	31	31	-14%	-14%	-14%	-83%	-83%	-83%
Italy	1042	1042	1042	280	280	281	-39%	-39%	-39%	-84%	-84%	-83%
Latvia	105	105	105	105	105	105	-14%	-14%	-14%	-14%	-14%	-14%
Lithuania	107	107	107	40	40	41	-50%	-50%	-50%	-81%	-81%	-81%
Luxembourg	4	4	4	б	ŝ	ω	-71%	-71%	-71%	-79%	-79%	-79%
Netherlands	56	56	56	34	34	34	-72%	-72%	-72%	-83%	-83%	-83%
Norway	34	34	34	34	34	34	-37%	-37%	-37%	-37%	-37%	-37%
Poland	1397	1397	1397	421	421	421	-53%	-53%	-53%	-86%	-86%	-86%
Portugal	294	294	294	294	294	294	3%	3%	3%	3%	3%	3%
R. of Moldova	91	91	91	91	16	91	-54%	-54%	-54%	-54%	-54%	-54%
Romania	976	976	976	92	92	92	-27%	-27%	-27%	-93%	-93%	-93%
Russia	2635	2635	2635	2382	2382	2382	-48%	-48%	-48%	-53%	-53%	-53%
Slovakia	240	240	240	65	65	65	-56%	-56%	-56%	-88%	-88%	-88%
Slovenia	37	37	37	14	14	14	-81%	-81%	-81%	-93%	-93%	-93%
Spain	2119	2119	2119	201	201	201	-5%	-5%	-5%	-91%	%16-	-91%
Sweden	87	87	87	LL	77	<i>LL</i>	-24%	-24%	-24%	-33%	-33%	-33%
Switzerland	30	30	30	30	30	30	-33%	-33%	-33%	-33%	-33%	-33%
FYRMacedonia	81	81	81	81	81	81	-24%	-24%	-24%	-24%	-24%	-24%
Ukraine	1807	1807	1807	681	681	686	-51%	-51%	-51%	-82%	-82%	-81%
United Kingdom	980	980	980	173	173	173	-74%	-74%	-74%	-95%	-95%	-95%
F.Yugoslavia	459	459	459	45	45	45	-21%	-21%	-21%	-92%	-92%	-92%
Atlantic Ocean	385	385	385	385	385	385	-40%	-40%	-40%	-40%	-40%	-40%
Baltic Sea	43	43	43	43	43	43	-41%	-41%	-41%	-41%	-41%	-41%
North Sea	264	264	264	264	264	264	-40%	-40%	-40%	-40%	-40%	-40%
T_{oto}	10507	10521	10571	6307	8307	0207	200%	200%	2002	7007	2002	7002

able 7.4: ¹	VH ₃ emissic	ons for the s	scenarios ta	urgeted at aci	idification a	nd ground-	-level ozon	е				
ntry	CRP*	AOT60 D6	NH ₃ emissio AOT40 D7	ns (kilotons) Acidification D9	minimum D6, D7, D9	joint D10	CRP*	AOT60 D6	Change comp AOT40 D7	bared to 1990 Acidification D9	maximum D6. D7. D9	joint D10
ania	33	33	33	33	33	33	7%	7%	7%	7%	7%	7%
tria	93	93	93	87	87	88	1%	1%	1%	-6%	-6%	-4%
ırus	163	163	163	163	163	163	-26%	-26%	-26%	-26%	-26%	-26%
gium	96	96	96	70	70	70	12%	12%	12%	-18%	-18%	-18%
nia-H	23	23	23	23	23	23	-25%	-25%	-25%	-25%	-25%	-25%
garia	126	126	126	126	126	126	-10%	-10%	-10%	-10%	-10%	-10%
atia	38	38	38	37	37	37	-6%	-6%	-6%	-8%	-8%	-8%
ch R.	124	124	124	94	94	94	8%	8%	8%	-18%	-18%	-18%
mark	103	103	103	55	55	55	-18%	-18%	-18%	-56%	-56%	-56%
nia	29	29	29	29	29	29	0%	0%	%0	0%0	0%	0%
and	23	23	23	23	23	23	-45%	-45%	-45%	-45%	-45%	-45%
Ice	668	668	668	439	439	441	-4%	-4%	-4%	-37%	-37%	-36%
nany	539	539	539	299	299	299	-27%	-27%	-27%	-60%	-60%	-60%
sce	76	76	76	76	76	76	-2%	-2%	-2%	-2%	-2%	-2%
gary	137	137	137	98	98	97	24%	24%	24%	-11%	-11%	-12%
nd	126	126	126	122	122	122	2%	2%	2%	-1%	-1%	-1%
	386	386	386	380	380	380	1%	1%	1%	-1%	-1%	-1%
ia	29	29	29	29	29	29	-26%	-26%	-26%	-26%	-26%	-26%
ıania	81	81	81	81	81	81	2%	2%	2%	2%	2%	2%
embourg	9	9	9	9	9	9	-12%	-12%	-12%	-12%	-12%	-12%
erlands	82	82	82	82	82	82	-64%	-64%	-64%	-64%	-64%	-64%
vay	23	23	23	23	23	23	0%0	0%0	%0	0%	0%0	0%
pu	546	546	546	479	479	480	8%	8%	8%	-5%	-5%	-5%
ıgal	84	84	84	84	84	84	-8%	-8%	-8%	-8%	-8%	-8%
Moldova	47	47	47	47	47	47	1%	1%	1%	1%	1%	1%
ania	301	301	301	235	235	235	4%	4%	4%	-19%	-19%	-19%
ia	894	894	894	894	894	894	-30%	-30%	-30%	-30%	-30%	-30%
akia	53	53	53	53	53	53	-13%	-13%	-13%	-13%	-13%	-13%
enia	20	20	20	20	20	20	-13%	-13%	-13%	-13%	-13%	-13%
u	345	345	345	345	345	345	-2%	-2%	-2%	-2%	-2%	-2%
den	53	53	53	53	53	53	-14%	-14%	-14%	-14%	-14%	-14%
zerland	58	58	58	58	58	58	-6%	-6%	-6%	-6%	-6%	-6%
Macedonia	15	15	15	15	15	15	-11%	-11%	-11%	-11%	-11%	-11%
uine	649	649	649	649	649	649	-11%	-11%	-11%	-11%	-11%	-11%
ed Kingdom	270	270	270	214	214	214	-17%	-17%	-17%	-34%	-34%	-34%
igoslavia	83	83	83	83	83	83	-8%	-8%	-8%	-8%	-8%	-8%

-24%

-24%

-24%

-13%

-13%

-13%

5607

5604

5604

6422

6422

6422

Total

			7		•							
	Costs		Additiona	il costs on top of C	RP* SO ₂		Costs		Additiona	il costs on top of C	CRP* NH3	
Country	${ m SO}_2^{-2}$	AOT60 D6	AOT40 D7	Acidification D9	maximum D6. D7. D9	joint D10	NH ₃ CRP*	AOT60 D6	AOT40 D7	Acidification D9	maximum D6. D7. D9	joint D10
Albania		С	0	0	0	0	-	С	0	0	0	0
Austria	214	0	0	42	42	42	4	0	0	17	17	15
Belarus	29	0	0	76	97	96	0	0	0	0	0	0
Belgium	240	0	0	315	315	315	22	0	0	327	327	321
Bosnia-H	ю	0	0	66	66	66	0	0	0	0	0	0
Bulgaria	129	0	0	142	142	144	0	0	0	0	0	0
Croatia	47	0	0	50	50	50	0	0	0	0	0	0
Czech R.	244	0	0	213	213	213	1	0	0	95	95	92
Denmark	- 16	0	0	166	166	165	41	0	0	379	379	370
Estonia	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Finland	202	0	0	0	0	0	34	0	0	0	0	0
France	1105	0	0	215	215	215	1	0	0	1279	1279	1250
Germany	2535	0	0	2113	2113	2086	0	0	0	1771	1771	1763
Greece	327	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Hungary	153	0	0	147	147	147	0	0	0	264	264	271
Ireland	76	0	0	92	92	92	206	0	0	93	93	06
Italy	1582	0	0	284	284	283	0	0	0	1	I	1
Latvia	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Lithuania	0	0	0	30	30	30	0	0	0	0	0	0
Luxembourg	10	0	0	4	4	4	12	0	0	0	0	0
Netherlands	199	0	0	82	82	82	763	0	0	0	0	0
Norway	49	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Poland	892	0	0	451	451	451	0	0	0	182	182	177
Portugal	121	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
R. of Moldova	7	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0
Romania	140	0	0	284	284	284	0	0	0	235	235	241
Russia	922	0	0	72	72	71	1	0	0	0	0	0
Slovakia	76	0	0	72	72	72	7	0	0	0	0	0
Slovenia	56	0	0	11	11	11	0	0	0	0	0	0
Spain	454	0	0	576	576	576	92	0	0	0	0	0
Sweden	227	0	0	17	17	16	16	0	0	0	0	0
Switzerland	74	0	0	0	0	0	S	0	0	0	0	0
FYRMacedonia	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Ukraine	383	0	0	395	395	392	0	0	0	0	0	0
United Kingdom	843	0	0	1133	1133	1133	0	0	0	328	328	322
F.Yugoslavia	0	0	0	262	262	262	0	0	0	0	0	0
Atlantic Ocean	231	0	0	0	0	0						
Baltic Sea	26	0	0	0	0	0						
North Sea	159	0	0	0	0	0						
Total	11848	0	0	7364	7364	7331	1202	0	0	4971	4971	4913

63

Table 7.5: Emission control costs for SO, and NH, (in million ECU/year)

,	Ĵ.
	yea
,	Ś.
;	2
	Ц.
1	ц
	Ä
	3
-	Ξ
	E
	Ξ
	Ξ.
	Ë
	E
	Ë
,	3
	0
	Õ.
3	
	а
	Ξ
•	¥
	Ц
	H
	S
	Ð
,	q
	_
	Ы
	ਸ਼
(\mathbf{C}
(5
(202
(),,,	I VOC
(),,	nd VOC
	and VOC
0000), and VOC
	V and VOC
	NO, and VOC
	or NO, and VOC
	for NO, and VOC
	s for NO, and VOC
	sts for NO, and VOC
	costs for NO, and VOC
	costs for NO, and VOC
	ol costs for NO, and VOC
	trol costs for NO, and VOC
	introl costs for NO, and VOC
	control costs for NO, and VOC
	1 control costs for NO, and VOC
	on control costs for NO, and VOC
	sion control costs for NO _x and VOC
	ission control costs for NO [*] and VOC
	mission control costs for NO [*] and VOC
	Emission control costs for NO _x and VOC
	: Emission control costs for NO _x and VOC
	6: Emission control costs for NO _x and VOC
	7.6: Emission control costs for NO _x and VOC
	e 7.6: Emission control costs for NO _x and VOC
	ble 7.6: Emission control costs for NO _x and VOC
	able 7.6: Emission control costs for NO _x and VOC
	Table 7.6: Emission control costs for NO _x and VOC

	Costs		Additional cos	ts on top of CRP*	NO and VOC		Total costs		Additional co.	sts on top of CRP [*]	 All pollutants 	
Country	NO and VOC	AOT60	AOT40	Acidification	Maximum ⁽¹⁾	ioint		AOT60	AOT40	Acidification	maximum	ioint
(mmoo	CRP*	D6	D7	D9	D6, D7, D9	D10	CRP*	D6	D7	D9	D6, D7, D9	D10
Albania	12	0	0	0	Ι	0	14	0	0	0	I	0
Austria	626	0	ŝ	27	27	36	844	0	ю	86	86	93
Belarus	1	7	33	1	33	15	30	7	33	98	130	111
Belgium	831	90	53	356	448	431	1094	60	53	866	0601	1067
Bosnia-H	0	0	0	0	Ι	0	ю	0	0	66	100	66
Bulgaria	13	0	4	0	4	5	142	0	4	142	146	146
Croatia	5	0	0	0	0	0	52	0	0	50	50	50
Czech R.	377	11	29	196	209	210	623	11	29	504	517	515
Denmark	317	0	0	90	90	88	449	0	0	635	635	623
Estonia	1	0	0	0	0	0	- 1	0	0	0	0	0
Finland	449	0	7	0	8	- (1)	685	0	L	0	8	. (1)
France	4802	249	674	452	1029	1016	5908	249	674	1946	2523	2481
Germany	6306	489	334	1941	2435	2441	8841	489	334	5825	6319	6290
Greece	505	ę	10	0	10	S	832	ŝ	10	0	I0	5
Hungarv	326	9	0	41	47	42	479	9	0	452	458	460
Ireland	189	0	0	71	72	70	471	0	0	256	257	252
Italv	4624	39	683	0	814	500	6206	39	683	285	1099	784
Latvia	0	C	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Lithnania) C) C) (r	с.	, <i>c</i> r	-	o c	0 0) (r	3.5	3.3	36
Luxemhouro	5	- C		1 L	~ ~		22	0 0	, c	11	11	2 1
Netherlands	1174	157	91	550	706	672	2137	157	91	632	788	754
Norwav	422	0	C	0	0		471	0	0	0	0	0
Poland	928	32	26 26	368	402	402	1820	32	26 26	1001	1035	1030
Portugal	828	315	173	0	315	240	949	315	173	0	315	240
R. of Moldova	4	0	0	0	0	0	12	0	0	0	0	0
Romania	0	14	18	24	34	34	140	14	18	543	553	559
Russia	0	0	56	0	58	35	923	0	56	72	130	106
Slovakia	270	2	0	21	23	21	348	7	0	93	95	93
Slovenia	77	0	0	0	0	0	132	0	0	11	11	11
Spain	2992	186	113	76	234	253	3538	186	113	652	810	829
Sweden	886	0	0	47	47	48	1129	0	0	64	64	23
Switzerland	526	0	118	8	117	100	605	0	118	×	117	100
FYRMacedonia	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Ukraine	761	19	107	0	107	26	1144	19	107	395	502	418
United Kingdom	4878	1500	182	1355	2857	2984	5721	1500	182	2816	4318	4439
F.Yugoslavia	0	41	0	ŝ	4I	ω	0	41	0	265	303	265
Atlantic Ocean	0	0	0	0	0	0	231	0	0	0	0	0
Baltic Sea	0	0	0	0	0	0	26	0	0	0	0	0
North Sea	0	0	0	0	0	0	159	0	0	0	0	0
Total	33182	3160	2717	5636	10177	9690	46232	3160	2717	17971	22512	21934
Note 1): This col	umn lists the costs	for NO _x and VC	C measures. T	herefore this colur	nn is not always	identical with th	ie maximum cos	ts for the individ	ual scenarios, wi	hich relate, depen	ling on the scenar	io, sometimes
	incourse outry.											

Country			(acid.)	(Ozone+acio	d)
2	1990	CRP*	D9	D10	MFR
Albania	0	0	0	0	0
Austria	2902	1452	496	504	263
Belarus	160	17	0	0	0
Belgium	475	292	15	15	5
Bosnia-H	132	131	0	0	0
Bulgaria	0	0	0	0	0
Croatia	487	451	0	0	0
Czech R.	2449	1605	115	115	68
Denmark	229	39	9	9	4
Estonia	292	108	10	10	0
Finland	5619	2175	791	786	176
France	3164	395	27	27	9
Germany	7344	3767	401	404	211
Greece	0	0	0	0	0
Hungary	1085	901	192	192	183
Ireland	249	196	92	92	76
Italy	1218	720	151	155	35
Latvia	40	0	0	0	0
Lithuania	11	0	0	0	0
Luxembourg	68	45	7	7	2
Netherlands	285	150	20	20	15
Norway	7811	4221	2021	2020	1337
Poland	4889	1050	54	54	39
Portugal	1	1	0	0	0
R. of Moldova	0	0	0	0	0
Romania	641	467	33	33	6
Russia	18234	9739	870	869	34
Slovakia	1537	732	15	15	10
Slovenia	454	138	12	13	3
Spain	81	64	0	0	0
Sweden	6136	1576	630	630	427
Switzerland	392	206	53	54	27
FYRMacedonia	0	0	0	0	0
Ukraine	955	209	25	24	5
United Kingdom	4001	1650	251	251	142
F.Yugoslavia	2	2	0	0	0
Total	71343	32499	6290	6299	3077

Table 7.7: Area of ecosystems with deposition above their critical loads for acidification (in 1000 hectares)



Figure 7.3: Change in NO_x emissions for the combined scenarios



Figure 7.4: Change in VOC emissions for the combined scenarios

Table 7.8 to Table 7.10 compare the cumulative exposure indices for vegetation, human health and acid deposition. It is interesting that the optimization does not always yield the minimum cumulative exposure index for the target environmental problem. For instance, in the case of the cumulative population exposure index, the AOT40-optimization achieves (at somewhat lower costs) a lower cumulative exposure index for Europe as a whole than the AOT60-related optimization. The reason for this is that the optimization does not directly aim at the minimization of these exposure indices, but at the achievement of grid-specific gap closure targets in terms of AOT40 or AOT60. The observed differences are a strong indication that, i.a., the spatial aspect of the target selection plays an important role in the costeffectiveness of scenarios. For instance, the wider scope of the 'ten percent improvement over the CRP* gap closure' target as used for the AOT40-optimization yields a higher overall protection for Europe than the 'peak-shaving' implied with the uniform minimum gap closure target of the illustrative AOT60 optimization. Further work will be necessary to explore this aspect in more detail and to maximize the possible benefits.

Figure 7.5 to Figure 7.7 display graphically the cost-effectiveness of the scenarios in relation to the different environmental problems. Although in these graphs the combined solutions always show higher total abatement costs than the optimizations focused on individual problems alone, they still provide a more cost-effective way of achieving the various targets simultaneously.



Figure 7.5: Cost-effectiveness of the scenarios for the AOT40 cumulative vegetation exposure index

Country		Cumula (mi	tive vegeta llion hecta	tion exposution tion exposution the second sec	re index	
country		(AOT60)	(AOT40)	(AOT40+	(acid.)	(Ozone
		((AOT60)	()	+acid)
	CRP*	D6	D7	D8	D9	D10
Albania	7	5	5	5	5	5
Austria	36	28	26	26	25	21
Belarus	11	6	5	5	6	4
Belgium	16	12	12	11	15	12
Bosnia-H	21	16	15	15	15	13
Bulgaria	31	26	24	25	24	23
Croatia	28	23	22	22	22	20
Czech R.	43	30	29	28	28	22
Denmark	9	5	5	5	4	2
Estonia	0	0	0	0	0	0
Finland	0	0	0	0	0	0
France	315	211	191	185	220	167
Germany	174	116	114	108	124	90
Greece	21	16	15	15	16	15
Hungary	51	38	37	37	35	30
Ireland	1	0	0	0	1	0
Italy	136	121	105	105	124	102
Latvia	2	1	1	0	0	0
Lithuania	5	2	2	2	1	0
Luxembourg	2	1	1	1	1	1
Netherlands	9	6	6	6	9	7
Norway	0	0	0	0	0	0
Poland	123	76	75	72	64	49
Portugal	30	21	23	21	28	21
R. of Moldova	6	5	5	5	5	4
Romania	73	55	53	53	51	46
Russia	87	76	68	68	76	68
Slovakia	28	20	19	19	18	15
Slovenia	11	9	9	9	9	8
Spain	151	103	106	101	115	88
Sweden	6	2	2	2	1	1
Switzerland	11	9	7	7	9	6
FYRMacedonia	5	4	4	4	4	3
Ukraine	125	98	93	93	96	86
United Kingdom	23	13	16	12	23	13
F.Yugoslavia	29	23	22	22	21	19
Total	1626	1177	1117	1089	1195	961

Table 7.8: Comparison of the AOT40 cumulative vegetation exposure indices
	Cumulative population exposure index							
Country	(million person.ppm.hours)							
		(AU160)	(AO140)	(A0140+	(acid.)	(Ozone		
	CDD*	D6	D7	AU100)	D0	+acid)		
Albonio		1	0	0	1	0		
Albania	1	1	0	0	1	0		
Ausula	0	4	4	4	4	5		
Delaius Delaium	4	2^{2}	$\frac{2}{22}$	$\frac{2}{21}$	22	1 21		
Deigiuili Doorio II	44	23	25	21 1	33 1	21 1		
DOSIIIA-FI Dulgorio	2	1	1	1	1	1 1		
Dulgaria Creatia	5	1	1	1	2	1		
Croatia) 10	3 10	2	2	3	2		
Czech K.	19	10	9	9	8	0		
Denmark Esterio	5	3	3	2	3	2		
Estonia	0	0	0	0	0	0		
Finland	0	0	0	0	0	0		
France	156	68	59	53	82	49		
Germany	226	122	115	105	136	90		
Greece	3	3	2	2	4	3		
Hungary	17	10	9	9	9	7		
Ireland	2	1	1	1	1	0		
Italy	86	65	40	41	72	42		
Latvia	1	0	0	0	0	0		
Lithuania	2	1	1	1	1	1		
Luxembourg	2	1	1	1	1	1		
Netherlands	48	26	26	23	40	25		
Norway	1	0	0	0	0	0		
Poland	58	31	30	28	28	20		
Portugal	10	6	6	6	9	6		
R. of Moldova	2	1	1	1	1	1		
Romania	13	6	6	6	6	5		
Russia	11	9	8	8	10	8		
Slovakia	9	5	5	5	5	4		
Slovenia	2	1	1	1	1	1		
Spain	18	7	7	6	10	5		
Sweden	2	1	1	1	1	1		
Switzerland	6	3	2	2	3	1		
FYRMacedonia	0	0	0	0	0	0		
Ukraine	19	12	11	11	13	10		
United Kingdom	99	48	60	45	82	41		
F.Yugoslavia	5	2	3	2	3	2		
Total	889	477	440	400	575	360		

Table 7.9: Comparison of the AOT60 cumulative population exposure indices

Country		(AOT60)	(AOT40)) (AOT40+	(acid.)	(Ozone
-				AOT60)		+acid)
	CRP*	D6	D7	D8	D9	D10
Albania	0	0	0	0	0	0
Austria	1452	1257	1234	1237	496	504
Belarus	17	6	6	6	0	0
Belgium	292	72	72	72	15	15
Bosnia-H	131	131	131	131	0	0
Bulgaria	0	0	0	0	0	0
Croatia	451	0	0	0	0	0
Czech R.	1605	1445	1431	1433	115	115
Denmark	39	16	16	16	9	9
Estonia	108	17	13	17	10	10
Finland	2175	1458	1445	1448	791	786
France	395	163	162	162	27	27
Germany	3767	3338	3287	3297	401	404
Greece	0	0	0	0	0	0
Hungary	901	108	108	108	192	192
Ireland	196	239	238	238	92	92
Italy	720	1648	1522	1526	151	155
Latvia	0	0	0	0	0	0
Lithuania	0	0	0	0	0	0
Luxembourg	45	35	34	34	7	7
Netherlands	150	138	137	137	20	20
Norway	4221	2600	2590	2591	2021	2020
Poland	1050	2242	2216	2220	54	54
Portugal	1	1	1	1	0	0
R. of Moldova	0	0	0	0	0	0
Romania	467	180	180	180	33	33
Russia	9739	5815	5767	5768	870	869
Slovakia	732	681	678	679	15	15
Slovenia	138	106	105	105	12	13
Spain	64	63	63	63	0	0
Sweden	1576	1193	1190	1191	630	630
Switzerland	206	160	152	153	53	54
FYRMacedonia	0	0	0	0	0	0
Ukraine	209	118	116	116	25	24
United Kingdom	1650	1524	1515	1516	251	251
F.Yugoslavia	2	2	2	2	0	0
Total	32499	24756	24411	24447	6290	6299

Table 7.10: Ecosystems with acid deposition above their critical loads for acidification (1000 hectares)



Figure 7.6: Cost-effectiveness of the scenarios for the AOT60 cumulative population exposure index



Figure 7.7: Cost-effectiveness of the scenarios for the protection of ecosystems against acidification

8 Summary of the Scenarios and Conclusions

8.1 Summary of the Scenarios

The scenarios presented in this report provide an assessment of the main features of ozone-related emission control strategies. Although there is ample space for further improvement of models and databases and a wide scope for robustness analysis, it is already possible to draw some initial conclusions from the work performed so far.

The currently available models support the theory that at the moment there are two different regimes of ozone formation in Europe. At sufficiently high ambient levels of NO_x , which occur at present in the north-western part of Europe, the ozone formation shows a clearly non-linear behavior. As a consequence, limited reductions of NO_x emissions in this area result in increased ozone concentrations. However, with more stringent NO_x control, the chemistry enters the 'linear' range , which prevails in most other parts of Europe, where additional NO_x reductions cause a decline in ozone levels.

Using the EMEP ozone model, the non-linear effect (increasing ozone) is predicted for some single grid cells as a result of the currently planned measures for NO_x emissions. On an aggregated (national) level, however, this effect is greatly diminished and almost all countries will show decreased average ozone levels after implementation of the present policies. Reducing NO_x emissions beyond the current plans will diminish ozone concentrations everywhere.

The analysis also demonstrates that the technically possible emission control measures (the maximum technically feasible emission reductions) will not be sufficient to achieve all the desired long-term environmental targets everywhere. Consequently, there is a need for the application of non-technical measures if these targets are to be met.

Given the fact that full achievement of the environmental long-term targets does not appear to be immediately feasible, the selection of appropriate interim targets is crucial for the design of acceptable emission control strategies. The target-setting process is a genuinely political task and requires judgments about political priorities. However, in order to produce illustrative scenario results from the available modelling framework, a number of alternative environmental targets have been selected to serve as examples for possible approaches.

For practical purposes, the AOT60 has been used as a health-related indicator of ozone exposure. There is a clear downward trend of the five-year mean AOT60 resulting from the current policy. A cumulative population exposure index (which combines the population densities with predicted ozone levels) is expected to decrease by 40% compared to 1990, and could be brought down further by implementing the maximum control (-90% compared to 1990).

The inter-annual meteorological variability of ozone formation is important. Analysis shows that on a grid level the AOT60 levels from a constant emission pattern may differ for different meteorological conditions by more than a factor of two. On average across Europe, the cumulative exposure index for the five years investigated shows a relative standard deviation of 36%.

It is essential to decide about the protection target, i.e., whether a certain protection level must be achieved even under the worst conditions, or whether a certain excess (or frequency of excess) is acceptable. If no violations at all are allowed, the analysis shows that a strategy based on this principle will be driven by a few extreme events at some single sites, which are not necessarily typical for the overall ozone situation. This implies that the optimized response measures will suit these extreme situations best, but they may turn out to be less efficient for reducing the large-scale excess exposure.

As an alternative, an approach was tested where (for each grid individually) the achievement of the environmental target for the year with the most unfavorable meteorological conditions out of the five available years was disregarded. Following this line of target setting, the gap between the long-term environmental target and the situation in 1990 (i.e., the excess exposure of the year 1990) could in theory be reduced by about 60%.

There are at least two ways of treating the different meteorological conditions in the optimization approach. As a simple approach, five individual optimizations could be carried out sequentially, each based on one set of meteorological conditions. The results obtained from these (five) runs could then be compared, and the most stringent emission reduction requirements be determined in order to satisfy the environmental constraints under the most unfavorable conditions. A more advanced method performs the optimization for all meteorological conditions simultaneously. The analysis shows that the costs of the resulting 'composite' solution are about 17% lower than those of the simple approach, where the most stringent emission reductions from five individual solutions are combined.

To explore a practical emission control strategy, a scenario has been calculated for a health-related gap closure of 50%. Owing to (a) the features of ozone chemistry responsible for peak concentrations and (b) the relative ratio of the marginal costs of the remaining measures for NO_x and VOC reductions after implementation of the current policies, the optimization gives, in most countries, priority to further VOC reductions.

A second scenario studies the basic features of optimal ozone control strategies targeted at the protection of vegetation, using the AOT40 indicator as a measure for the vegetation protection. The current legislation will reduce the cumulative vegetation exposure index by about 20% compared to 1990, and the maximum feasible emission reductions could bring it down by 70%. As for the health-related analysis, the selection of appropriate environmental interim targets is a key question for the development of acceptable emission control strategies. In order to achieve a wide geographical spread of the environmental improvement and of the measures required for this, an illustrative target of improving the 'gap closure' of the CRP* scenario by 10 percentage points has been established. As a result, optimized emission control measures include more NO_x control than for the health-related optimization.

For practical strategy development, the health- and vegetation-related targets should be combined to derive one single set of emission control measures. To shed light on this aspect, a joint optimization considering the AOT60- and AOT40-related targets simultaneously has been performed. The costs of emission reductions resulting from this optimization example are about 8% lower than the costs of the combined measures of the two individual strategies. The NO_x-related measures proposed by ozone-targeted strategies should be carefully evaluated along with their impacts on acidification. The study presents a new concept for analyzing the interaction between ozone- and acidification-related strategies. In a way similar to the combined optimization performed for the AOT40- and AOT60-related strategy, a combined optimization approach was developed to consider targets on health- and vegetation-related ozone exposure simultaneously with acidification. In practice, this optimization looks for the least-cost combinations of SO₂, NO_x, NH₃ and VOC controls, satisfying regional constraints on acid deposition, AOT60 levels and AOT40 levels at the same time.

For the combination of these targets, the optimal set of emission reductions is only slightly rearranged compared to the set of the most stringent reductions of the individual problems. Further analysis is necessary to determine whether this is a general feature of combined ozone-acidification strategies, or whether this is a consequence of the particular environmental targets selected for this example run.

8.2 Caveats

It must be stressed that the assessment presented in this report is based on the currently available data sets and models. There are certainly some critical aspects, where further analysis could possibly modify some of the preliminary conclusions. Such central elements include the estimates of the maximum feasible emission reductions, the actual quantification of the non-linear effect of ozone formation and the influence of possible changes in the global background concentration of ozone in the free troposphere.

There are also a number of assumptions made for this particular report, which could possibly have direct impacts on some of the main results. One of the most important limitations of the work presented in this analysis is the exclusion of further emission controls in the transport sector. It is known from sensitivity analysis that the potential for additional emission reductions from mobile sources may significantly change the requirements for stationary sources.

8.3 Conclusions

Despite the preliminary character of some of the modelling tools and databases, some robust conclusions may be drawn from the analysis presented in this report:

- A tool has been developed and tested that can be used to support the development of cost-effective European emission control strategies targeted at ground-level ozone.
- The current information suggests that the non-linear characteristic of ozone formation leading to increased ozone levels with reduced NO_x emissions is limited to a certain region in the north-western part of Europe. Furthermore, NO_x control in addition to the currently planned measures will overcome this non-linear response and lead to effective ozone reductions.
- The presently adopted emission control policies are expected to reduce ozone levels in Europe. Given the energy scenario, the limitations of present emission control technologies and excluding the potential offered by non-technical measures, the full achievement of the long-term environmental targets does not appear to be feasible within the given time frame (2010). It will be necessary to establish interim targets.

- The selection of appropriate interim environmental targets has crucial impacts on the development of cost-effective emission control strategies. While the modelling exercise can offer a range of alternative targets to illustrate the implications of particular choices, the ultimate decision about the environmental objective requires value judgments about political priorities.
- Given the significant inter-annual variation in ozone formation due to meteorological conditions, it will be necessary to specify clearly the accepted extent of exceedances of the target levels. Preparing for the most unfavorable conditions might prove expensive and might not yield the optimal reduction for the average conditions.
- Considering health- and vegetation-related ozone strategies simultaneously offers a certain potential for cost savings.
- A number of assumptions made for this assessment require further analysis before robust quantitative conclusions are possible. The most important issues will be addressed in the near future.

9 References

- Alcamo J. (1987) Uncertainty of Forecasted Sulfur Deposition Due to Uncertain Spatial Distribution of SO₂ Emissions. Preprints of the 16th NATO/CCMS International Technical Meeting on Air Pollution Modelling and Its Application, Lindau, FRG.
- Alcamo J., Shaw R., and Hordijk L. (eds.) (1990) The RAINS Model of Acidification. Science and Strategies in Europe. Kluwer Academic Publishers,. Dordrecht, The Netherlands
- Amann M. (1990) Energy Use, Emissions and Abatement Costs. [in:] Alcamo J., Shaw R., and Hordijk L. (eds.) (1990) The RAINS Model of Acidification. Science and Strategies in Europe. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands.
- Amann M, Bertok I., Cofala J., Gyarfas F., Heyes C., Klimont Z., Makowski M., Shibayev S., Schöpp W. (1997) Cost-effective Control of Acidification and Ground-Level Ozone. Third Interim Report to the European Commission, DG-XI, October 1997, International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis, Laxenburg, Austria.
- Barret K., Sandnes H. (1996) Transboundary Acidifying Air Pollution calculated transport and exchange across Europe, 1985-1995. In: Barret K., Berge E. (eds.) Transboundary Air Pollution in Europe. MSC-W Status Report 1996, Meteorological Synthesizing Centre - West, Norwegian Meteorological Institute, Oslo, Norway.
- Bertok I., Cofala J., Klimont Z., Schöpp W., Amann M. (1993) Structure of the RAINS 7.0 Energy and Emissions Database. WP-93-67, International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis, Laxenburg, Austria.
- Capros, P., Manztos L., Kokkolakis E. and Antoniou Y. (1997) *Business AS Usual Scenario for the EU Energy System 1995-2020.* Final Report to European Commission, DG-XVII/A2. National Technical University of Athens.
- EEA (European Environmental Agency) (1996) Joint EMEP/CORINAIR Atmospheric Emission Inventory Guidebook, First Edition. Copenhagen, 1996
- Heyes C., Schöpp W., Amann M, Bertok I., Cofala J., Gyarfas F., Klimont Z., Makowski M., Shibayev S. (1997) A Model for Optimizing Strategies for Controlling Ground-Level Ozone in Europe. IR-97-002/January, International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis, Laxenburg, Austria.
- Kärenlampi L., Skarby L., (eds), (1996) Critical levels for Ozone in Europe: Testing and Finalizing the Concepts. UN-ECE Workshop Report. University of Kuopio, Dept. of Ecology and Environmental Science.
- Klaassen, G. (1991) Costs of Controlling Ammonia Emissions in Europe. Report SR-91-02, International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis (IIASA), Laxenburg, Austria.
- OECD (1993) Advanced Emission Controls for Power Plants. OECD Documents, OECD, Paris, France.
- Posch, M., P.A.M. de Smet, J.-P. Hettelingh and R.J. Downing (eds.) (1995) *Calculation and mapping of critical thresholds in Europe*. Status Report 1995, Coordination Center for Effects, RIVM, Bilthoven, The Netherlands, 198 pp.

- Posch, M., J.-P. Hettelingh, P.A.M. de Smet, and R.J. Downing (eds.) (1997) *Calculation and mapping of critical thresholds in Europe*. Status Report 1997, Coordination Center for Effects, RIVM, Bilthoven, The Netherlands.
- Rentz O., Remmers J., Plinke E. (eds.) (1987): Proceedings of the Workshop on Emission Control costs, 28.09-01.10. 1987, Esslingen am Neckar, Germany. Executive Body for the Convention on Long-range Transboundary Air Pollution, Institute for Industrial Production (IIP) University of Karlsruhe, Karlsruhe, Germany.
- Schärer B. (1993) Technologies to Clean up Power Plants. Experience with a 21 billion DM FGD and SCR Retrofit Program in Germany. Part 1 and 2. Staub -Reinhaltung der Luft 53 (1993), 87-92, 157-160.
- Simpson, D. (1992) Long period modelling of photochemical oxidants in Europe : A) hydrocarbon reactivity and ozone formation in Europe. B) On the linearity of country-to-country ozone calculations in Europe. EMEP MSC-W Note 1/92, Norwegian Meteorological Institute, Oslo, Norway.
- Simpson, D. (1993) Photochemical model calculations over Europe for two extended summer periods : 1985 and 1989. Model calculations and comparison with observations. *Atmos. Environ.*, **27A**, No. 6, pp. 921-943.
- Takeshita, M. (1995) Air Pollution Control Costs for Coal-Fired Power Stations, IEAPER/17, IEA Coal Research, London, UK.
- UBA (1996) Manual on Methodologies for Mapping Critical Loads/Levels and Geographical Areas where they are exceeded (final draft). Umweltbundesamt, Berlin, Germany.
- UN/ECE (1995) Strategies and Policies for Air Pollution Abatement, 1994 Major Review. United Nations Economic Commission for Europe, Convention on Long-Range Transboundary Air Pollution, Geneva, Switzerland.
- UN/ECE (1996) Report on Abatement Techniques to Reduce Ammonia Emissions from Agricultural Livestock. Report of the UN/ECE Working Group on Technology, prepared by The Netherlands (lead country). Ministry of Housing, Spatial Planning and Environment, The Hague, The Netherlands.
- WHO (1997) Air Quality Guidelines for Europe. Second edition, Copenhagen, Denmark.